
 

 

 
Notice of meeting and agenda 
 
 

Planning Committee 
 
2.00pm, Wednesday, 14th June, 2023 

 
Dean of Guild Court Room - City Chambers 

 

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to attend or watch the 
webcast live on the Council’s website. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts 

Email:  taylor.ward@edinburgh.gov.uk / carolanne.eyre@edinburgh.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Planning Committee - 14 June 2023 Page 2 of 4 

 

 

 

1. Order of Business 
 
1.1   Including any notices of motion and any other items of business 

submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting. 
 

2. Declaration of interests 
 
2.1   Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests 

they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying 
the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest. 

 

3. Deputations 
 
3.1   If any  

4. Minutes 
 
4.1   Planning Committee of 19 April 2023 - submitted for approval as 

a correct record  
5 - 12 

5. Business Bulletin 
 
5.1   Planning Committee Business Bulletin 13 - 32 

6. Development Plan 
 
6.1   None.  

7. Planning Policy 
 
7.1   Affordable Housing Policy Update 2023 – Report by the 

Executive Director of Place 
33 - 40 

8. Planning Process 
 
8.1   West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Masterplan: Draft 

for Consultation – Report by the Executive Director of Place 
41 - 90 

9. Planning Performance 
 



 

 

Planning Committee - 14 June 2023 Page 3 of 4 

 

 

9.1   Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in 
Edinburgh – Report by the Executive Director of Place 

 

10. Conservation 
 
10.1   None.  

11. Motions 
 
11.1   None.  

Nick Smith 
Service Director, Legal and Assurance 

 

Committee Members 

Councillor James Dalgleish (Convener), Councillor Alan Beal, Councillor Chas Booth, 
Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron, Councillor Neil Gardiner, Councillor Euan Hyslop, 
Councillor Tim Jones, Councillor Amy McNeese-Mechan, Councillor Joanna Mowat, 
Councillor Kayleigh O'Neill and Councillor Hal Osler. 

Information about the Planning Committee 

The Planning Committee consists of 11 Councillors and is appointed by the City of 
Edinburgh Council.  

The Planning Committee usually meets in the Dean of Guild Court Room in the City 
Chambers on the High Street in Edinburgh. There is a seated public gallery and the 
meeting is open to all members of the public.  

Further information 

If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact 
Taylor Ward, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre 2.1, 
Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG, Tel: 0131 529 2164 x 
32164, email taylor.ward@edinburgh.gov.uk / Carolanne.eyre@edinburgh.gov.uk. 

The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council 
committees can be viewed online by going to the Council’s online Committee Library. 

Live and archived webcasts for this meeting and all main Council committees can be 
viewed online by going to the Council’s Webcast Portal. 

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://edinburgh.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 

Planning Committee - 14 June 2023 Page 4 of 4 

 

 

Webcasting of Council meetings 

Please note this meeting may be filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 
Council’s internet site – at the start of the meeting the Convener will confirm if all or part 
of the meeting is being filmed. 

The Council is a Data Controller under current Data Protection legislation.  We 
broadcast Council meetings to fulfil our public task obligation to enable members of the 
public to observe the democratic process.  Data collected during this webcast will be 
retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy including, but not limited to, 
for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records available via the 
Council’s internet site. 

Any information presented by individuals to the Council at a meeting, in a deputation or 
otherwise, in addition to forming part of a webcast that will be held as a historical 
record, will also be held and used by the Council in connection with the relevant matter 
until that matter is decided or otherwise resolved (including any potential appeals and 
other connected processes).  Thereafter, that information will continue to be held as 
part of the historical record in accordance with the paragraphs above. 

If you have any queries regarding this, and, in particular, if you believe that use and/or 
storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause, substantial 
damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services 
(committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk). 



 

Minutes 

 

Planning Committee 

2.00pm, Wednesday 19 April 2023 

Present 

Councillors Dalgleish (Convener), Beal, Booth, Cameron, Gardiner, Hyslop, Jones, 

McNeese-Mechan, Mowat, O’Neill and Osler.  

1. Minutes 

Decision 

To approve the minute of the Planning Committee of 24 March 2023 as a correct 

record. 

2. Business Bulletin 

The Planning Committee Business Bulletin for 19 April 2023 was submitted.  

Decision 

1) Conservation and Adaptation – Short-Term Working Group – to note the 

intention for the Short-Term Working Group to meet following the summer 

recess with a report back to Committee in Autumn 2023. 

2) City Plan Update – to note there was no interim reporting as part of the 

examination process but that officers would inform Committee members in the 

event that further information requests were forthcoming from the Reporters. 

3) To otherwise note the updates in the business bulletin. 

(Reference – Business Bulletin 19 April 2023, submitted.) 

3. Edinburgh Local Development Plan – Action Programme 2023 - 

Adoption 

Approval was sought to formally adopt, publish and submit the Edinburgh Local 

Development Plan Action Programme 2023 to Scottish Ministers. 

Information was submitted on the general updates, improvement and significant 

changes that had been made to the Action Programme together with indicative delivery 

timescales for each action. 

Decision 

1) To agree that the Edinburgh Local Development Plan (LDP) Action Programme 

2023 set out in appendix 1 of the report by the Executive Director of Place be 

formally adopted, published and submitted to Scottish Ministers. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.1



Planning Committee – 19 April 2023                                                            Page 2 

2) To note the completed actions set out in section 8 of appendix 1 of the report 

and the actions removed from the Action Programme as set out in appendix 2 of 

the report. 

3) To note that a further report on the financial implications of the 2023 Action 

Programme would be reported to the Finance and Resources Committee on 20 

June 2023. 

(Reference – report by the Executive Director of Place, submitted.) 

4. Proposed Changes to Short Term Let Guidance in the Non-

Statutory Guidance for Businesses 

a) Deputation – Living Rent 

The deputation outlined their support for regulation and reduction in short term 

lets throughout the city, and asked that the Planning Committee agree the 

guidance unchanged. Edinburgh was in the midst of a housing crisis, they said, 

with increasing rents and competition for rental places forcing tenants into 

bidding wars. In the city centre, it was reported that one-third of dwellings were 

short-term lets, which took away valuable stock from the rental sector. They also 

stated that short-term lets had long-term community impacts, including increased 

noise and a reduction in local amenities. In response to the report, Living Rent 

submitted a petition in response to the consultation and received 2066 

signatures. In particular, Living Rent opposed the proposed addition of the word 

“permanent” in relation to short-term lets, the change of the words “wholly 

commercial” to “predominantly commercial”, and the weakening of the wording in 

regard to mixed-use areas from “generally will not be supported” to “regard will 

be had to the nature of the surrounding uses”. They said that the majority of 

those who engaged with the consultation were in favour of the guidance as it 

stood, without change. They encouraged the Council to approve the guidance 

unchanged, as it was consulted on. 

b) Report by the Executive Director of Place 

Details were provided of the responses received to the consultation on the 

proposed changes to existing non-statutory Guidance for Businesses to 

augment and further clarify the guidance with respect to Short Term Lets (STL) 

in relation to assessing proposals against Local Development Plan Policy Hou 7 

– Inappropriate Uses in Residential Areas. 

Analysis of the responses and data had indicated that the proposed further 

guidance was broadly supported by most respondents. However, there was 

opposition to the guidance primarily from operators/hosts and those 

organisations which had a level of reliance on or were directly involved in STL 

accommodation. 

Findings from the consultation had informed amendments to the proposed 

guidance as set out in table 4.29 of the report by the Executive Director of Place. 

 

Page 6



Planning Committee – 19 April 2023                                                            Page 3 

Motion 

1) To note that the Council had now concluded the consultation on the 

proposed changes to the Short Term Let guidance in the non-statutory 

Guidance for Businesses. 

2) To note the level of response to and the key findings of the consultation 

as summarised in the report by the Executive Director of Place and set 

out in appendix 1. 

3) To acknowledge that analysis and consideration of feedback from the 

consultation had informed the amended proposed guidance. 

4) To agree the proposed amended guidance detailed in paragraph 4.29 

and table 4.30 of the report. 

- moved by Councillor Dalgleish, seconded by Councillor Cameron 

Amendment 

1) To note that the Council had now concluded the consultation on the 

proposed changes to the Short Term Let guidance in the non-statutory 

Guidance for Businesses. 

2) To note the level of response to and the key findings of the consultation 

as summarised in the report by the Executive Director of Place and set 

out in appendix 1. 

3) To acknowledge that analysis and consideration of feedback from the 

consultation had informed the amended proposed guidance. 

4)  In recommendations, at the end of point 1.1.4, add the following text: 

", subject to the following amendments: 

a)  in paragraph 4.29, row 1, paragraph 1, line 3, delete "close 

proximity", insert "nearby"; 

b) in paragraph 4.29, row 1, paragraph 1, line 5, delete "permanent"; 

c) in paragraph 4.29, row 1, insert at the end of paragraph 2, "Where 

there is likely to be a further deterioration of residential amenity in 

such mixed areas, it is unlikely that short term let proposals will be 

supported." 

d) in paragraph 4.29, row 1, paragraph 3, line 2, delete "permanent"; 

e) in paragraph 4.29, row 3, paragraph 1, line 6, delete "permanent"; 

f) in paragraph 4.29, row 3, insert after paragraph 3, “It should be 

noted that licensing of STLs is separate from the planning system.” 

5) Insert new paragraph at end of recommendations as follows: 

“1.1.5 Notes that this consultation was issued prior to the coming into 

force of National Planning Framework 4 (NPF4) in February 2023; 

notes that City Plan 2030 is currently at examination stage, and is 

Page 7



Planning Committee – 19 April 2023                                                            Page 4 

expected to return to committee in late 2023 or early 2024; further 

notes that the Scottish Government may be issuing guidance 

shortly on the application of NPF4 in respect of short term lets; 

agrees that further guidance on the applicability of NPF4 and City 

Plan to STLs is likely to be required, and agrees to receive a report 

setting out options for consulting on further changes to guidance 

once City Plan 2030 has been adopted.” 

- moved by Councillor Booth, seconded by Councillor O’Neill 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), the amendment was accepted as an 

amendment to the motion. 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Dalgleish: 

1) To note that the Council had now concluded the consultation on the proposed 

changes to the Short Term Let guidance in the non-statutory Guidance for 

Businesses. 

2) To note the level of response to and the key findings of the consultation as 

summarised in the report by the Executive Director of Place and set out in 

appendix 1. 

3) To acknowledge that analysis and consideration of feedback from the 

consultation had informed the amended proposed guidance. 

4)  To agree the proposed amended guidance detailed in 4.29 and table 4.30 

subject to the following amendments: 

a)  in paragraph 4.29, row 1, paragraph 1, line 3, delete "close proximity", 

insert "nearby"; 

b) in paragraph 4.29, row 1, paragraph 1, line 5, delete "permanent"; 

c) in paragraph 4.29, row 1, insert at the end of paragraph 2, "Where there 

is likely to be a further deterioration of residential amenity in such mixed 

areas, it is unlikely that short term let proposals will be supported." 

d) in paragraph 4.29, row 1, paragraph 3, line 2, delete "permanent"; 

e) in paragraph 4.29, row 3, paragraph 1, line 6, delete "permanent"; 

f) in paragraph 4.29, row 3, insert after paragraph 3, “It should be noted that 

licensing of STLs is separate from the planning system.” 

5) To note that this consultation was issued prior to the coming into force of 

National Planning Framework 4 (NPF4) in February 2023. 

6) To note that City Plan 2030 was currently at examination stage, and was 

expected to return to Committee in late 2023 or early 2024. 

7) To further note that the Scottish Government may be issuing guidance shortly on 

the application of NPF4 in respect of short term lets. 

Page 8



Planning Committee – 19 April 2023                                                            Page 5 

8) To agree that further guidance on the applicability of NPF4 and City Plan to 

STLs was likely to be required. 

9) To agree to receive a report setting out options for consulting on further changes 

to guidance once City Plan 2030 had been adopted. 

(References – Planning Committee 23 February 2022 (item 6); report by the Executive 

Director of Place, submitted) 

Declaration of Interests 

Councillor Booth made a transparency statement as he had had a number of 

communications from Living Rent and soft caterers but that his amendment submitted 

on this item to Committee was based on the consultation responses. 

Councillor O’Neill made a transparency statement as a member of Living Rent. 

5. Motion by Councillor Osler – Edinburgh Design Guidance – 

Cycle Parking 

a) Deputation – Spokes 

 A written deputation was submitted on behalf of Spokes. The deputation 

supported the motion and urged committee to approve it.  

 They stated that Edinburgh had a history of poor provision of cycle parking in 

new developments. Many developments were built without provision for non-

standard cycles, such as cargo bikes and adapted tricycles. Better storage for 

non-standard cycles was needed. They explained that two-tier racks, which were 

often used to fit the desired number of parking spaces into a smaller area, were 

hard to use, particularly for people with low upper body strength or heavier 

cycles such as e-cycles. They argued that the majority of cycle parking in 

developments should thus be Sheffield stands and that short-term parking at 

locations such as supermarkets should always be single-tier. They also 

suggested that a wider review of cycle parking policy could also consider the use 

of Section 75 contributions to fund a public cycle hire scheme. A further problem 

was poor provision of both access and parking at legacy sites, where permission 

was given long ago. Whilst the Council may not have powers to compel action 

here, it could work with the Chamber of Commerce, Cycling Scotland and others 

to encourage and incentivise businesses to recognise their responsibilities in the 

context of the climate crisis. They stated that action on measures such as cycle 

hire and cycling-unaware legacy developments was of growing urgency given 

the council’s welcome commitment to 2030 net zero. Spokes urged members to 

support the motion. 

b) Motion by Councillor Osler 

 The following motion by Councillor Osler was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17: 

 “Committee: 

Page 9



Planning Committee – 19 April 2023                                                            Page 6 

 1.  Notes that City Plan 2030 has been submitted for examination and one of 

 the key aims is that by 2030, we want Edinburgh to be A City where you 

 don’t need to own a car to move around.  

2.  Notes Edinburgh Design Guidance, 2.4 Design, Integration and Quality of 

Parking – Parking Spaces for Bicycles states  

i)  High quality cycle parking, including secure storage is essential in 

 making cycling as attractive as possible.  

3.  Notes that the Edinburgh Street Design Guidance C7 – Cycle Parking - 

 Cycle Parking in New Developments states the following  

i. At least 20% of cycle parking, particularly in new developments, 

should be able to accommodate non-standard bikes, such as 

adapted bikes, tandems, cargo bikes and bike trailers  

ii.  Due to the future maintenance requirement of two-tier racks 

relative to Sheffield stands, for new developments providing <50 

storage spaces, these should all be provided as single-storey 

Sheffield stands. Where >50 bikes on Sheffield stands are 

required, at least 50% of the capacity should be met by single 

storey racks  

iii. Two tier racks should only be used in combination with other cycle 

parking types. No more than a maximum of 50% of cycle parking at 

a location should be two tier storage. 

4. Notes that the Edinburgh Design Guidance was approved in January 

2020 and is due for review late 2023 or early 2024. 

5. Requests that the review of the Edinburgh Design Guidance should take 

account of how cycle parking is being used in recent development and: 

 i) consider the extent of cycle parking required for different types of 

 development. 

 ii) provide clear guidance to ensure that cycle parking provided is 

 accessible, secure and safe to use. 

 iii) ensure that cycle parking provides for the range of different types 

 of bikes available. 

 The forthcoming report to Planning Committee on the Edinburgh Design 

Guidance should explain what measures have been taken in relation to these 

points.” 

-  moved by Councillor Osler, seconded by Councillor Beal 

Amendment 

To agree the motion by Councillor Osler and add that engagement take place with 

Spokes and other relevant organisations on this issue. 

- moved by Councillor Booth, seconded by Councillor O’Neill 

Page 10



Planning Committee – 19 April 2023                                                            Page 7 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), the amendment was accepted as an 

addendum to the motion. 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Osler: 

“Committee: 

1.  To note that City Plan 2030 had been submitted for examination and one of the 

key aims was that by 2030, we want Edinburgh to be A City where you don’t 

need to own a car to move around.  

2.  To note that the Edinburgh Design Guidance, 2.4 Design, Integration and 

Quality of Parking – Parking Spaces for Bicycles states  

i)  High quality cycle parking, including secure storage is essential in making 

cycling as attractive as possible.  

3.  To note that the Edinburgh Street Design Guidance C7 – Cycle Parking - Cycle 

Parking in New Developments states the following  

i. At least 20% of cycle parking, particularly in new developments, should 

be able to accommodate non-standard bikes, such as adapted bikes, 

tandems, cargo bikes and bike trailers  

ii.  Due to the future maintenance requirement of two tier racks relative to 

Sheffield stands, for new developments providing <50 storage spaces, 

these should all be provided as single-storey Sheffield stands. Where >50 

bikes on Sheffield stands are required, at least 50% of the capacity 

should be met by single storey racks  

iii. Two tier racks should only be used in combination with other cycle 

parking types. No more than a maximum of 50% of cycle parking at a 

location should be two tier storage. 

4. To note that the Edinburgh Design Guidance was approved in January 2020 and 

was due for review late 2023 or early 2024. 

5. To request that the review of the Edinburgh Design Guidance should take 

account of how cycle parking was being used in recent development and: 

i) consider the extent of cycle parking required for different types of 

development. 

ii) provide clear guidance to ensure that cycle parking provided was 

accessible, secure and safe to use. 

iii) ensure that cycle parking provided for the range of different types of bikes 

available. 

6. To agree that the forthcoming report to Planning Committee on the Edinburgh 

Design Guidance should explain what measures have been taken in relation to 

these points and that engagement should take place with Spokes and other 

relevant organisations on this issue.  

Page 11



Planning Committee – 19 April 2023                                                            Page 8 

(Reference – written deputation statement from Spokes, submitted.) 

Declaration of Interests 

Councillor Beal made a transparency statement as a member of Spokes. 

Councillor Hyslop made a transparency statement as the owner of a business who had 

been donated a cargo bike from Spokes. 

 

 

 

Page 12



Page 1 

 

Business Bulletin      
Planning Committee 
2.00pm, Wednesday, 14 June 2023 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5.1



Planning Committee – 14 June 2023        
       Page 2  

Planning Committee 

Convener: Members: Contacts: 
Councillor James Dalgleish  

 

 

Councillor Alan Beal 
Councillor Chas Booth  
Councillor Lezley Marion 
Cameron 
Councillor Neil Gardiner 
Councillor Euan Hyslop 
Councillor Tim Jones 
Councillor Amy 
McNeese-Mechan 
Councillor Joanna 
Mowat  
Councillor Kayleigh 
O’Neill 
Councillor Hal Osler 
 

Jamie Macrae and Taylor Ward  
Committee Services 
 
 
David Givan 
Chief Planning Officer and Head of 
Building Standards 
david.givan@edinburgh.gov.uk  
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 14

mailto:jamie.macrae@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:taylor.ward@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:david.givan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 14 June 2023        
       Page 3  

Recent News Background 

Wester Hailes Local Place Plan 

The Wester Hailes Local Place Plan has met all the 
legislative requirements for validation. It is now valid and 
registered with the Council. A dedicated webpage for Local 
Place Plans (LLP) is being finalised and the Wester Hailes 
LLP will be uploaded once complete.  

Planning is developing guidance for LPPs which will be 
available on the Council’s website; an engagement strategy 
will follow to encourage community groups to develop 
proposals for their local area. 

Contact:  Iain McFarlane, City 
Plan Programme Director 

City Plan 2030 Update 

There have now been seven Further Information Requests 
(FIR) by Reporters for the City Plan Examination as set out 
in the attached spreadsheet (Appendix 1). 

FIR001 was for the first part of the Examination and 
requested further detail of the engagement process carried 
out. 

Six received so far are for the main part of the Examination 
and centre on aspects of the plan policies and how they 
relate to NPF4 published after the plan was submitted for 
Examination. Responses have been in time, with cross 
service support, and positive in supporting the plan’s 
relationship with NPF4. The seventh is a request to the 
Edinburgh Bioquarter Partners for copies of diagrams 
referred to in their representation submission.  

Contact:  Iain McFarlane, City 
Plan Programme Director 

Seafield Update 

A further Seafield Sounding Board was held on 12 April 
2023, updating on the work being carried out by 7N 
Architects as previously reported. There was some 
discussion about appointing a new chair, without 
nominations coming forward. Councillor Griffiths continued to 
chair on an interim basis, and this will be reconsidered at the 
next meeting on 14 June 2023 where a shortlist of nominees 
will be presented to the Sounding Board for consideration. 
Notes from meetings, once approved, are found on the 
Seafield Regeneration page of the Council website. 

Contact:  Iain McFarlane 

City Plan Programme Director 

Page 15

mailto:iain.mcfarlane@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:iain.mcfarlane@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/download/14969/seafield-regeneration
mailto:iain.mcfarlane@edinburgh.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 14 June 2023        
       Page 4  

Planning Performance 

Overall, planning performance for this quarter, so far, is 
similar to that of previous quarters. Appendix 2 sets this out 
in detail.  

Contact: David Givan, Chief 
Planning Officer and Head of 
Building Standards 

 

Building Standards Performance 

The Building Standards section has started the year by 
maintaining its performance against national targets set by 
Scottish Government. This follows a year in which the 
highest ever fee income was received for building warrant 
applications. The full reporting of the first quarter’s 
performance will follow in the next Committee’s bulletin. 
Training of staff continues, with changes in processes and 
procedures introduced to help improve consistency and 
efficiency. The workshops and engagement sessions with 
the Scottish Government and other stakeholders is nearing 
conclusion for some of the seven areas of Building 
Standards being looked into. It is anticipated that there will 
be significant implications for the service. However, we will 
have to wait and see the final outcomes of each area under 
review before detailed planning can start. The Enforcement 
Handbook has been published by the Scottish Government 
with the aim of improving the application of our enforcement 
role in all Building Standards services across Scotland. 

Contact:  Colin Wishart, Building 
Standards Operations Manager 

Correspondence with Minister re Non-Determination 

Planning Committee on 24 March 2023 requested that the 
Convener should write to the Minister for Minister for Public 
Finance, Planning and Community Wealth regarding non-
determination of planning applications where hearings have 
been called and regarding the use of processing 
agreements. The Convener did this and the Minister 
responded. These letters are Appendix 3. 

The minister’s response explained that Scottish Government 
are not changing any of their requirements or guidance in 
respect of non-determination timescales or processing 
agreements. The Council’s Chief Planning Officer met with 
the Scottish Government’s Chief Planner to discuss the 
matters further where the minister’s position was reiterated. 
Following this, the Planning service is reviewing its standard 
processing agreement and it is reviewing its processes and 
practices around agreeing extended time periods for 
determination of applications.  

Contact: David Givan, Chief 
Planning Officer and Head of 
Building Standards 

 

Page 16

mailto:david.givan@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:colin.wishart@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=147&MId=6747
mailto:david.givan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 14 June 2023        
       Page 5  

As part of the service’s ongoing improvement plan, it is 
considering how it engages with consultees with a view to 
streamlining the process. This may also provide some 
further improvement to the processes for how applications 
are determined.  

Errata - Edinburgh Local Development Plan – Action 
Programme 2023 

The published version of the Edinburgh LDP Action 
Programme 2023 corrects an error contained within the 
version that accompanied the report to Planning Committee 
on 19 April 2023 

Action TR-SA-NWLOC-14 Gas Holder Development Cycle 
Route was incorrectly noted as ‘completed’ in Part 8, page 
123 of the Action Programme and in the accompanying map: 
2d Rest of Urban Area – Granton on page 104 in the Council 
Papers On-Line version. This error has now been corrected 
in this published version where this action is in Part 2d 
Transport Actions – Rest of urban area (Granton) noting its 
delivery ‘to be delivered as part of the development street 
layout’ and a revised map produced on p90.  

 

Contact: David Givan, Chief 
Planning Officer and Head of 
Building Standards 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s56493/6.1%20-%20Edinburgh%20Local%20Development%20Plan%20Action%20Programme%202023%20-%20adoption.pdf
mailto:david.givan@edinburgh.gov.uk


Page 6 

 

Appendix1 

City Plan 2030 Update  

FIR 
number 

Date 
rec'd 

Response 
draft due 

Response 
due 

before Issue / Plan section Information requested 
Status Reply info 

sent 
1 21-Feb N/A Tue 7 

Mar 
Statement of conformity Request additional evidence (various) Replied  07/03/2023 

2 05-May 19-May Sat 20 
May 

Issue 1 – Introduction and 
Aims 

National Developments, Heat, Marine 
Plan, Airport 

Replied  19/05/2023 

3 09-May 19-May Tue 23 
May 

Issue 24 – Mixed 
Communities, HOU 3 
Mixed Communities 

Housing Strategy, accessible housing 
info, HOU 3 changes 

Replied  22/05/2023 

4 10-May 22-May Wed 24 
May 

Issue 12 - Density, ENV 
26, HOU 4 

Green Belt density NPF4 Policy 8 Replied  17/05/2023 

5 11-May 22-May Thu 25 
May 

Issue 13 – Sustainable 
Design, ENV 8 

Net Zero beyond NPF4 Replied  23/05/2023 

6 15-May 25-May Mon 29 
May 

Issue 28 – Infrastructure 
Delivery – Community 
Facilities, Policy INF 1 

Is the council justified in adapting the 
concept of a 20-minute neighbourhood 
to mean a round trip to and from a 
particular service of 20 minutes, rather 
than a round trip of 40 minutes? 

Replied 25/05/2023 

7 23-May N/A Tues 6 
June 

Issue 8 - Proposed Sites 
South East Edinburgh 
 

Edinburgh BioQuarter Partners (0478) 
asked to provide DPEA with copies of 
height diagrams referred to in 
representation 
 

N/A N/A 

 

P
age 18



Appendix 2 - Planning Time Performance Quarterly Bulletin - Q1 2023/24

Note: Figures for Q1 2023/24 are up to 28 May 23 only.

Householder

Q1 

19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

Average Time (weeks) 7.8 7.6 7.5 8.6 8.9 7.3 7.5 7.9 7.6 8.4 8.4 9.5 9.1 8.7 8.8 9.4 9.5

Submitted 438 411 410 435 345 435 530 546 618 502 476 470 423 351 385 332 182 0 0 0

Decided 418 413 384 383 305 314 481 484 546 485 417 360 460 378 341 313 254 0 0 0

12 Month Totals:
Decided over 2 months (no 

agreemetns  / extensions) 76 41 26 43 133 51 70 74 78 126 111 155 203 116 108 130 75 0 0 0
Appeals against non 

determination 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 1 0

Commentary:

Average timescales for processing householder applications is relatively stabel at 9.5 weeks for Q1 so far. 

Sub: 2066 Dec: 1808 Sub: 1491 Dec: 1492 Sub: 182 Dec: 254Sub: 1694 Dec: 1598 Sub: 1856 Dec: 1584

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Q1
19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

A
ve

ra
ge

 T
im

e 
(W

ee
ks

)

Su
b

m
it

te
d

 /
 D

ec
id

ed

Average Time (weeks) Submitted Decided

P
age 19



Note: Figures for Q1 2023/24 are up to 28 May 23 only.
Local (Not Householder or Short-term Let)

Q1 

19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

Average Time (weeks) 13.3 15.3 13.9 15.2 16.0 13.3 22.4 21.8 12.8 13.8 15.4 15.4 14.7 16.6 17.0 17.7 16.9

Submitted 202 172 191 172 112 163 182 185 205 182 190 203 183 143 148 126 63 0 0 0

Decided 190 153 151 121 97 119 136 154 167 145 144 157 177 157 128 120 68 0 0 0

12 Month Totals:
Decided over 2 months (no 

agreemetns  / extensions) 85 63 48 58 60 52 66 64 71 73 90 103 116 107 74 86 48 0 0 0
Appeals against non 

determination 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 3 4 0

Sub: 780 Dec: 613 Sub: 600 Dec: 582 Sub: 63 Dec: 68

There has been a reduction in average timescales for processing local applications that are not householder or short-term let to 116.9 weeks so far this quarter.

Sub: 737 Dec: 615 Sub: 642 Dec: 506

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Q1
19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

A
ve

ra
ge

 T
im

e 
(W

ee
ks

)

Su
b

m
it

te
d

 /
 D

ec
id

ed

Average Time (weeks) Submitted Decided

P
age 20



Note: Figures for Q1 2023/24 are up to 28 May 23 only.
Short-term Let

Q1 

19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

Average Time (weeks) 13.4 12.7 25.8 9.4 12.6 14.1 7.1 11.7 12.3 10.5 11.7 8.8 17.8 18.9 13.7 9.8

Submitted 4 0 3 2 4 3 3 6 7 7 6 103 66 71 88 53 24 0 0 0

Decided 3 2 0 3 1 2 3 1 6 4 3 5 13 19 81 31 82 0 0 0

12 Month Totals:
Decided over 2 months (no 

agreemetns  / extensions) 1 1 0 3 1 2 2 0 5 4 3 3 2 19 76 30 82 0 0 0

Appeals against non 

determination 0 0

Sub: 9 Dec: 8 Sub: 16 Dec: 7 Sub: 123 Dec: 18 Sub: 278 Dec: 144 Sub: 24 Dec: 82

There has been a decrease in the amount of time taken to determine short-term let planning applications to 9.8 weeks

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Q1
19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

A
ve

ra
ge

 T
im

e 
(W

ee
ks

)

Su
b

m
it

te
d

 /
 D

ec
id

ed

Average Time (weeks) Submitted Decided

P
age 21



Note: Figures for Q1 2023/24 are up to 28 May 23 only.
Major

Q1 

19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

Average Time (weeks) 61.5 33.4 124.0 35.1 81.0 232.5 107.9 73.8 30.1 49.1 52.5

Submitted 10 7 1 7 3 3 6 5 2 8 4 3 6 7 3 6 5 0 0 0

Decided 6 5 0 3 2 3 0 2 0 4 7 2 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0

12 Month Totals:

Decided over 2 months (no 

agreemetns  / extensions) 6 3 0 3 2 3 0 2 0 4 6 2 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0
Appeals against non 

determination 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1

There were no major applications determined ths quarter so far. 

Sub: 17 Dec: 13 Sub: 22 Dec: 4 Sub: 5 Dec: 0

0.0

40.0

80.0

120.0

160.0

200.0

240.0

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Q1
19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

A
ve

ra
ge

 T
im

e 
(W

ee
ks

)

Su
b

m
it

te
d

 /
 D

ec
id

ed

Average Time (weeks) Submitted Decided

P
age 22



Note: Figures for Q1 2023/24 are up to 28 May 23 only.
Advertisements

Q1 

19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

Average Time (weeks) 9.9 7.7 7.5 8.5 6.9 7.8 8.5 13.2 10.7 7.5 8.2 9.4 8.9 7.8 9.0 8.8 10.0

Submitted 73 69 56 41 33 52 34 43 45 53 47 65 68 51 49 78 43 0 0 0

Decided 65 76 53 49 33 39 29 51 44 47 51 39 73 68 40 54 53 0 0 0

12 Month Totals:
Decided over 2 months (no 

agreemetns  / extensions) 17 15 7 7 4 8 4 22 14 13 12 19 21 16 10 17 31 0 0 0

Sub: 210 Dec: 181 Sub: 246 Dec: 235 Sub: 43 Dec: 53

There has been an increase in the average timescales to determine advertisement applications to 10 weeks.

Sub: 239 Dec: 243 Sub: 162 Dec: 152

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Q1
19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

A
ve

ra
ge

 T
im

e 
(W

ee
ks

)

Su
b

m
it

te
d

 /
 D

ec
id

ed

Average Time (weeks) Submitted Decided

P
age 23



Note: Figures for Q1 2023/24 are up to 28 May 23 only.
Listed Building Consents

Q1 

19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

Average Time (weeks) 10.4 8.2 8.3 8.4 10.0 8.6 7.5 8.0 9.4 9.1 9.6 8.9 9.8 8.7 8.7 9.0 9.3

Submitted 269 273 265 292 164 195 270 305 317 239 244 322 305 273 283 275 145 0 0 0

Decided 225 269 223 245 187 130 239 246 305 247 222 211 334 301 248 280 160 0 0 0

12 Month Totals:

Decided over 2 months (no 

agreemetns  / extensions) 68 60 35 48 92 39 53 62 77 86 65 63 132 84 73 98 64 0 0 0
Appeals against non 

determination 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 2 3

Sub: 1122 Dec: 985 Sub: 1136 Dec: 1163 Sub: 145 Dec: 160Sub: 1099 Dec: 962 Sub: 934 Dec: 802

Average timescales for listed building consent determinations are 9.3 weeks. This is 0.3 weeks longer than the previous quarter.

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Q1
19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

A
ve

ra
ge

 T
im

e 
(W

ee
ks

)

Su
b

m
it

te
d

 /
 D

ec
id

ed

Average Time (weeks) Submitted Decided

P
age 24



Note: Figures for Q1 2023/24 are up to 28 May 23 only.
Tree works to Tree Preservation Order Tree

Q1 

19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

Average Time (weeks) 8.7 9.2 10.9 12.2 12.5 14.0 11.9 13.7 18.3 22.5 14.1 27.8 9.2 6.4 9.8 4.3 4.3

Submitted 34 25 28 38 23 34 31 31 38 27 27 25 38 36 38 46 25 0 0 0

Decided 23 27 24 29 22 26 21 30 30 37 26 50 42 31 52 46 19 0 0 0

12 Month Totals: Sub: 117 Dec: 143 Sub: 158 Dec: 171 Sub: 25 Dec: 19

Commentary:

The average time taken to determine applications for trees which are subject of a tree preservation order is at 4.3 weeks which is the same as the previous quarter.

Sub: 125 Dec: 103 Sub: 119 Dec: 99

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Q1
19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

A
ve

ra
ge

 T
im

e 
(W

ee
ks

)

Su
b

m
it

te
d

 /
 D

ec
id

ed

Average Time (weeks) Submitted Decided

P
age 25



Note: Figures for Q1 2023/24 are up to 28 May 23 only.
Tree works to Conservation Area Tree

Q1 

19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

Average Time (weeks) 1.9 1.2 3.5 6.2 5.2 5.4 5.3 5.5 4.9 2.4 3.4 2.3 43.7 2.7 2.9 3.8 2.7

Sub 155 182 166 132 190 258 233 219 196 235 217 175 136 187 178 168 92 0 0 0

Dec 157 168 84 169 126 256 230 170 249 190 284 173 230 170 203 156 97 0 0 0

12 Month Totals:

Average timescale so for tree works applications for those trees that are in a conservation area has decreased to 2.7 weeks for this quarter so far.

Sub: 823 Dec: 896 Sub: 669 Dec: 759 Sub: 92 Dec: 97Sub: 635 Dec: 578 Sub: 900 Dec: 782

0.0

7.5

15.0

22.5

30.0

37.5

45.0

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Q1
19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

A
ve

ra
ge

 T
im

e 
(W

ee
ks

)

Su
b

m
it

te
d

 /
 D

ec
id

ed

Average Time (weeks) Sub Dec

P
age 26



Note: Figures for Q1 2023/24 are up to 28 May 23 only.
Enforcement Overall

Q1 

19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

Received 258 286 195 195 116 267 188 160 260 225 169 156 198 235 202 185 165 0 0 0

Closed 62 116 86 88 39 69 94 57 136 107 198 175 174 193 221 193 121 0 0 0

Notices served 13 17 31 23 0 0 3 0 14 10 14 27 24 20 30 23 11 0 0 0

Served within target time 8 11 13 15 0 0 3 0 10 7 1 10 19 6 19 18 4 0 0 0

% in target time 62% 65% 42% 65% 100% 71% 70% 7% 37% 79% 30% 63% 78% 36%

Enforcement Short-term Lets

Q1 

19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

Received 68 67 52 44 6 64 19 6 26 52 19 13 31 66 52 40 40 0 0 0

Closed 6 20 29 17 16 5 19 6 5 12 26 37 12 25 52 51 21 0 0 0

Notces served 5 9 12 15 0 0 3 0 11 10 0 18 13 4 17 18 7 0 0 0

Served in 6 month target 3 9 6 13 0 0 3 0 9 7 0 9 13 3 16 17 4 0 0 0

% in target time 60% 100% 50% 87% 100% 82% 70% 50% 100% 75% 94% 94% 57%

Enforcement Other cases - not short-term lets

Q1 

19/20

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

20/21

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

21/22

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

22/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 

23/24

Q2 Q3 Q4

Received 190 219 143 151 110 203 169 154 234 173 150 143 167 169 150 145 125 0 0 0

Closed 56 96 57 71 23 64 75 51 131 95 172 138 162 168 169 142 100 0 0 0

Notices served 8 8 19 8 0 0 0 0 3 0 14 9 11 16 13 5 4 0 0 0

Served in 3 month target 5 2 7 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 6 3 3 1 0 0 0 0

% in target time 63% 25% 37% 25% 33% 7% 11% 55% 19% 23% 20% 0%

So far this quarter, there has been a large number of enforcement cases received.  

P
age 27



James Dalgleish 

Scottish Labour & Co-operative Councillor – Leith Walk Ward 

Planning Convener 

City Chambers, High Street, Edinburgh, EH1 1YJ T: 0131 529 3299 
E:Cllr.James.Dalgleish@edinburgh.gov.uk  

25th April 2023 
Joe FitzPatrick MSP 

Minister for Local Government Empowerment and Planning 
The Scottish Parliament 
Edinburgh 
EH99 1SP 

By email: Joe.Fitzpatrick.msp@parliament.scot 

Dear Mr FitzPatrick,  

City of Edinburgh Council Non-Determination and Processing Agreements 

At its meeting of 24 March 2023, the City of Edinburgh Council’s Planning Committee following a 

motion and addendum considered the matter of appeals for non-determination of applications 

which have been continued for a Hearing by the Council’s Development-Management Sub 

Committee. There have been two instances of this recently in Edinburgh. It has caused considerable 

concern for councillors and for the community as it has meant that rather than hear from all 

interested parties before making its decision, the ability of the Council to make its decision has been 

taken away. I have appended a combined copy of the motion and addendum for your information. 

In relation to this, the Planning Committee agreed that I write to you to request consideration be 

given to extending the current time periods for the determination of applications in circumstances 

where applications have been continued for a Hearing by Council committees. This would allow for 

communities and other interested stakeholders to have their voices heard.  

The Planning Committee also noted that some applications can involve multiple consultee 

responses that require to be considered and that the statutory timescales for determining 

applications can be extended by the use of processing agreements.  In relation to this, where 

applications require multiple consultations, I ask whether it is possible for consideration to be given 

APPENDIX 3

Page 28

mailto:Joe.Fitzpatrick.msp@parliament.scot


 
 

 

to putting in place measures to extend timescales to allow the planning process to hear from all 

interest parties and to provide sufficient time for consideration of matters raised by consultees 

before committees make their decisions. 

In respect of both these matters our Chief Planning Officer is giving consideration to amendments 

that can be made to the Council’s standard processing agreement and also to its processes for 

Hearings, however if there were further legislative provisions to ensure additional timescales were 

built in for the circumstances I have described above, that would be very helpful and would help 

build confidence in communities around the planning process.  

We would hope that the matters can be discussed in the coming weeks, and we would welcome the 

opportunity for a meeting with yourself to do so. The results of which will provide the Council, and 

stakeholders including local communities who actively engage with planning greater certainty in this 

aspect of the planning process.  

I look forward to hearing from you. 

Yours sincerely, 

James Dalgleish  

Convener of the Planning Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



 
 

 

Appendix 

Combined Motion and Addendum from City of Edinburgh Council Planning Committee of 24 March 

2023 

Committee  

1. Supports and encourages communities to engage within the planning process  

2. Notes the volume and complexity of applications having to be considered in Edinburgh by the City of 

Edinburgh Planning Department in comparison to other Local Authorities  

3. Notes and the supports the rights of applicants to have planning applications considered within a timely 

manner as set out by the Scottish Government  

4. Notes that there is an option available to an applicant to appeal to Scottish Government’s Planning and 

Environmental Appeals Division (DPEA) for the non-determination of an application if it has passed its time 

period for decision as set by planning legislation via the Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2013 or a time period that has been otherwise agreed by 

officers and the applicant  

5. Recognises that the determination of an application can be delayed by the granting of a request for a 

hearing  

6. Notes that some applicants choose to withdraw an application from consideration by the Development 

Management Sub Committee on the basis of non-determination when a decision is delayed due to a hearing 

being granted  

7. Therefore requests the Planning Convener write to Minister for Public Finance, Planning and Community 

Wealth asking that consideration be given to extending the time limit for determination in cases where an 

application has been continued for a Hearing to allow for communities and other interested stakeholders to 

have their voices heard 

Notes that the timescales to determine applications are short at 2 months for local 4 months for major 

applications and that applications can involve multiple consultees whose responses have to be considered; 

that these timescales can be extended by the use of processing agreements to agree reasonable timescales.  

Asks that the Convener asks the Minister if Edinburgh can make increased use of processing agreements 

where applications which require multiple consultations are identified, to reasonably extend timescales to 

allow the planning process to hear from all interested parties and provide sufficient time for consideration 

of matters raised by consultees, and then revert to Committee with the outcome of any discussions for their 

consideration.  

Reports back to Committee the outcome of these discussions. 

Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



1 
 

 
Planning Committee 
 

2.00pm, Wednesday, 14 June 2023 

Affordable Housing Policy Update 2023 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards All 
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 It is recommended that Planning Committee: 

1.1.1 Notes that the Affordable Housing Policy (AHP) is consistently delivering 
onsite affordable homes for more than 85% of sites of 20 homes or more; 

1.1.2 Notes that almost 1,050 new affordable homes were completed through 
2021/22 and 2022/23 and almost 1,000 new affordable homes were 
approved on sites secured through the AHP; 

1.1.3 Notes the use of commuted sums, as set out in paragraph 4.17, to support 
delivery of 216 new affordable homes on three sites;  

1.1.4 Refers this report to Housing, Homelessness and Fair Work Committee for 
information. 

 

Paul Lawrence  

Executive Director of Place  

Contact: Elaine Scott, Housing Services Manager 

E-mail: elaine.scott@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 2277 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7.1

mailto:elaine.scott@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Report 
 

Affordable Housing Policy Update 2023  

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 The Affordable Housing Policy (AHP) provides an important source of land to 
support the delivery of the new supply of affordable housing. This report provides 
information on how the AHP has supported delivery of affordable housing in 
2021/22 and 2022/23.  

3. Background 

3.1 In 2000, Edinburgh was the first local authority to introduce an AHP in Scotland. 
The AHP is a planning policy which ensures that 25% of homes on all housing sites 
with 12 homes or more, are required to be affordable.  The policy requires private 
housing developers to transfer a proportion of a housing land or homes to 
affordable housing providers for affordable housing use. 

3.2 On 31 August 2022, Planning Committee approved the recommendations of the 
Affordable Housing Policy Tenures Update report. The report set out the strong 
delivery of the AHP across affordable tenures.  

3.3 On 30 November 2022, Planning Committee approved the recommendations of the 
City Plan 2030 – Approval of Schedule 4 documents and the Proposed Plan for 
Examination report; authorising the plan to be submitted to Scottish Government. If 
adopted by Scottish Government, the required affordable housing contribution 
would increase from 25% to 35%.  

3.4 On 1 December 2022, Housing, Homelessness and Fair Work Committee approved 
the Strategic Housing Investment Plan (SHIP)  2023-2028.  This set out a potential 
pipeline of 11,937 affordable homes which could be approved for site start, with 
11,375 anticipated affordable housing completions between 2023 and 2028. The 
report also highlighted that based on current Scottish Government Resource 
Planning Assumptions, less than a third of the potential pipeline could be delivered 
through the grant funded Affordable Housing Supply Programme (AHSP).  A 200% 
uplift would be required to deliver the current SHIP. 

3.5 On 16 March 2023, Council approved its five-year business plan.  The plan sets out 
that the Council will increase supply of affordable housing, with an ambition to reach 
25,000 new affordable homes.  The AHP is an important delivery mechanism to 
meet this commitment. Prior to its introduction, the high demand for housing land in 

Page 34

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s48366/7.1%20-%20Affordable%20Housing%20Policy%20-%20Tenures%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s52227/City%20Plan%202030%20Approval%20of%20Schedule%204%20documents%20and%20Proposed%20Plan%20for%20Examination.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s52278/7.5%20-%20Strategic%20Housing%20Investment%20Plan%20SHIP%202023-28.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s55796/Item%207.3%20-%20Council%20Business%20Plan%202023-27.pdf


the city meant that affordable housing developers were often outbid by private 
housing developers and failed to acquire suitable land for affordable housing.  

4. Main report 

Edinburgh Housing Market Context 

4.1 Delivery of affordable housing through the AHP is facing significant challenges in 
the current economic circumstances. Although the policy requires private housing 
developers to transfer a proportion of a housing land or homes to affordable 
housing providers for affordable housing use, the construction cost of these homes 
must be paid for by the affordable housing provider. In most cases, the affordable 
housing is delivered by a Registered Social Landlord (RSL).  RSLs are non-profit 
making, reliant on grant funding with limited borrowing capacity from rental income 
streams that are restricted in order to make homes as affordable as possible for 
people on low and moderate incomes.   

4.2 The average cost of building an affordable home increased from just under 
£158,000 in 2020 to almost £190,000 in 2021. In 2022, the average cost of an 
affordable home in Edinburgh was around £203,500. Since 2020, the average 
construction cost of an affordable home has increased by almost 30%.  During the 
preceding five years (2016/17 to 2020/21), the average construction cost of an 
affordable home increased by only 14.5%; less than 3% each year. 

4.3 The impact of the war in Ukraine and Brexit, as well as the long-term impact of the 
pandemic has seen costs in the construction sector increase by around 40% in the 
last year. Global prices for construction materials such as timber, steel and 
particleboard have increased due to increased demand, rising energy prices, and 
reduced supply. 

4.4 Inflation hit a 41-year high of 11.1% in October 2022 and mortgage interest rates 
exceeded 6% for the first time in 14 years. The Bank of England has increased 
interest rates several times from 2.25% in September 2022 up to 4.5% in May 2023. 
The cost of borrowing for affordable housing will also be affected; the Scottish 
Housing Regulator estimates that 27% of RSL loans are on variable interest rates. 

4.5 The number of available mortgage products halved in October 2022.  Mortgage 
market uncertainty brings additional risk for house builders as homes may go 
unsold for longer periods. As a result, housebuilders may delay new developments, 
deliver smaller phases, and/or reduce the number of homes which come to market 
each year.  This can also delay affordable homes brought forward through the AHP.   

4.6 In January 2023, many national housebuilders published updates for shareholders. 
Most reported pulling back on construction considerably as they adapt to the 
changed mortgage market.  National completions were expected to fall dramatically 
and could be half what they were last year.  House builders have published plans to 
align build programmes with sales rates, freeze recruitment and slow new site 
starts. 

4.7 Citylets Quarterly Report Q1 2023 sets out that average rent in Edinburgh is £1,372 
per calendar month, ranging from £926 a month for a one bedroom home to £2,401 

Page 35

https://www.citylets.co.uk/research/reports/pdf/Citylets-Quarterly-Report-Q1-2023.pdf


a month for a four bedroom home. Rents have increased by 67% on average in the 
last 10 years. Over 80% of properties are let within a month, and almost half of all 
one bedroom rented homes are let within a week.  

4.8 The average Edinburgh house price, as set out in ESPC’s House Price Report (April 
2023), is £280,629; a fall of 2.6% year on year. Prices across the city vary, 
however, there are numerous areas within Edinburgh where the average price of a 
two bed flat exceeds £300,000. Buyers pay on average 3% over the Home Report 
value. 

4.9 Average household income in Edinburgh is around £50,000 per annum. Both 
Scottish Government and Shelter Scotland research states that paying more than 
30% to 40% of household income on housing is considered unaffordable; although 
affordability does vary depending on personal circumstances.  

4.10 The affordable housing grant funding benchmark (the grant funding made available 
for each affordable home) increased in 2021. However, increases in construction 
costs has meant that it has had a limited impact on affordability, and it only 
represented around 41% of the cost of an affordable home in 2021/22. 

4.11 In summary, increased construction costs, increased borrowing costs, marginal 
increases in grant funding and affordable rents which have been static, are 
impacting on the viability of affordable housing developments. Alongside this, as 
noted at 4.6 developer decisions are impacting on the availability of land for 
affordable housing development.  

AHP Delivery in 2021/22 and 2022/23 

4.12 At the end of March 2023 there were around 2,000 affordable homes under 
construction on 28 sites.  A detailed breakdown of approvals and completions 
enabled by the AHP is set out in the table below.  

Table 1: Affordable homes delivered through AHP in 2021/22 and 2022/23 
 2021/22 2022/23 

All affordable AHP enabled All affordable AHP enabled 
Approvals 1,251 565 (45%) 734 412 (56%) 
Completions 1,041 505 (49%) 1,215 542 (45%) 

 

4.13 There are significant new AHP housing developments coming forward in 2023/24, 
including affordable homes at the former Royal Hospital for Sick Children and 
completion of over 300 affordable homes at Granton Harbour Plot S. However, local 
and national affordable housing delivery has been affected by the difficulties facing 
the wider economy and housing market turbulence. Affordable housing approvals 
have reduced from their peak of almost 2,000 in 2019/20. In their Quarterly 
Statistics to October 2022 (published in March 2023), Scottish Government 
reported a 22% decrease on affordable numbers from last year, which is the lowest 
level since 2013. 

Page 36

https://espc.com/media/9134/april-hpr-house-prices.pdf
https://espc.com/media/9134/april-hpr-house-prices.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/rent-affordability-affordable-housing-sector-literature-review/pages/4/
https://blog.shelter.org.uk/2015/08/what-is-affordable-housing/


4.14 There were 30 developments of 20 homes or more that were consented in 2021/22 
and 2022/23, and all but four have or will deliver onsite affordable housing. This 
means that the AHP is still consistently delivering onsite affordable homes for more 
than 85% of sites of 20 homes or more. However, the number of residential 
applications approved declined from 21 in 2021/22 to nine in 2022/23, a reflection of 
the more uncertain market conditions.  There were two of 21 applications in 
2021/22 which did not provide onsite affordable housing and in 2022/23, two of nine 
applications did not provide onsite affordable housing.  As construction costs and 
borrowing costs increased, the number of sites with viable onsite affordable housing 
has decreased. Where onsite affordable housing is not viable, commuted sums are 
sought as the affordable housing contribution instead.    

Commuted Sums  

4.15 Onsite provision of affordable housing is the highest priority for the AHP and officers 
seek to secure this for all sites of 20 units or more.  Where there are exceptional 
reasons to not deliver on site affordable housing a commuted sum can be agreed. 
In line with the national Planning Advice Note, affordable housing commuted sums 
are calculated independently by the District Valuer. The formula for calculation of a 
commuted sum is gross development value (the sales values of the completed 
properties) minus the gross development costs and developer profit. Over the last 
two years the Council has received commuted sums which average £20,640 per 
affordable home.  

4.16 £2.662 million in commuted sums was received in 2021/22 and 2022/23. The 
Council has used £544,045 to support the delivery of 216 affordable homes.  This is 
set out in Table 2 below. The average amount of commuted sums used to support 
new affordable homes was £2,518 per home.  

Table 2: Commuted Sums Used to Support Affordable Housing in 2021/22 and 
2022/23 

Project Homes Ward Amount Registered Social 
Landlord 

Shrubhill 25  £344,045 Castle Rock 
Edinvar 

Rowanbank 33  £100,000 Dunedin Canmore 
West Craigs 158  £100,000 Dunedin Canmore 

Total: 216 Total:   £544,045 

 

4.17 The remaining balance will be used to support the delivery of affordable housing in 
the same or adjacent ward to the principal development site, where possible.  Sums 
must be used within 10 years.   

4.18 The costs of materials, construction costs and borrowing costs have increased 
significantly in the last 18 months. However, house prices have reduced, and 
mortgage availability is less than before. This impacts on land values and overall 
development viability. This does mean that where affordable housing commuted 
sums are sought, their value may be reduced when compared to previously secured 
sums. Edinburgh has a strong development pipeline (as set out in the SHIP 23-28). 

Page 37

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s52278/7.5%20-%20Strategic%20Housing%20Investment%20Plan%20SHIP%202023-28.pdf


Edinburgh has been able to consistently utilise national underspends in AHSP grant 
funding (an additional £11m above Resource Planning Assumptions (RPA) in 
2021/22 and 2022/23). With a potential programme of over 11,000 affordable 
homes, there will be ample opportunities to allocate existing commuted sums to 
support the development of affordable homes.  

Golden Share  

4.19 Golden Share (GS) is an affordable tenure where the purchase price is fixed at 80% 
of market value, and this is restricted in the title deeds in order that homes might 
remain affordable in perpetuity. The GS homes are made available by 
housebuilders to people who could not afford to purchase the property at full market 
value. Guidance states that GS properties can have a value of up to £214,796, 
which is roughly 80% of average house prices in Edinburgh. No grant funding is 
required for GS.  

4.20 The August 2022 report Affordable Housing Policy Tenures Update set out the 
delivery and impact that Low Cost Home Ownership tenures like GS have on 
citywide housing need. During 2021/22 and 2022/23 there were no new planning 
approvals for Golden Share. There were completions of previously granted 
consents, with 176 applications received over the period. The average cost of a 
Golden Share home was £201,000; significantly lower than the average market 
value in the city of around £280,000. Whilst City Plan 2030 is being considered by 
Scottish Ministers, no changes to Golden Share policy are being considered but the 
affordability of Golden Share homes continues to be monitored.   

5. Next Steps 

5.1 Further changes to AHP may be considered as part of the preparation of future 
guidance to support relevant policies in the City Plan 2030. As set out in national 
Planning Policy Guidance, any significant changes to the AHP would be subject to 
consultation.     

5.2 The annual update of the Strategic Housing Investment Plan will be presented to 
Housing, Homelessness and Fair Work Committee in October 2023.  

6. Financial impact 

6.1 The AHP has secured over 1,000 affordable homes during 2021/22 and 2022/23 on 
private land. Without the AHP, affordable housing providers would not have been 
able to afford the land required for these homes.  

6.2 Where onsite affordable housing delivery has not been possible, commuted sums 
have been sought. £2.662 million was received during 2021/22 and 2022/23, and 
almost £550,000 has been used to support the delivery of 216 affordable homes.   

 

Page 38

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s48366/7.1%20-%20Affordable%20Housing%20Policy%20-%20Tenures%20Update.pdf


7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 The AHP has been successful in delivering mixed tenure communities and 
providing affordable housing in diverse areas across the city.   

7.2 The Council and RSLs, through delivery of social and mid-market rent, place 
community engagement at the centre of housing development projects and go far 
beyond statutory planning requirements.  

7.3 Affordable homes delivered by the Council and RSLs are built to high standards and 
as such contribute to the public sector equality duty and advances equality of 
opportunity.  Homes secured through the AHP increase access to affordable 
housing and well designed, energy efficient, safer and cleaner communities.  It 
contributes to improved health by increasing the supply of good quality homes, 
reducing fuel poverty and providing homes which are physically accessible.    

7.4 The majority of new build properties delivered by the Council and its housing 
association partners are accessible for people of limited mobility, meaning particular 
needs housing requirements can often be met through allocation of a standard 
general needs property.    

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Affordable Housing Policy Tenures Update, Planning Committee, 31 August 2022. 

8.2 City Plan 2030 Proposed Plan, Planning Committee, 30 November 2022. 

8.3 Strategic Housing Investment Plan 2023-28, Housing, Homelessness and Fair Work 
Committee, 1 December 2022. 

8.4 Council Business Plan, The City of Edinburgh Council, 16 March 2023. 

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 None. 

 

  

Page 39

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s48366/7.1%20-%20Affordable%20Housing%20Policy%20-%20Tenures%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s52227/City%20Plan%202030%20Approval%20of%20Schedule%204%20documents%20and%20Proposed%20Plan%20for%20Examination.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s52278/7.5%20-%20Strategic%20Housing%20Investment%20Plan%20SHIP%202023-28.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s55796/Item%207.3%20-%20Council%20Business%20Plan%202023-27.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Planning Committee 
 

2.00pm, Wednesday, 14 June 2023 

West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and 
Masterplan: Draft for Consultation 

 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards  All 
Council Commitments  4, 10 

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1     It is recommended that Committee:  

1.1.1. Approves the Draft West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Masterplan 
for public consultation; and 

1.1.2. Notes that a report will be brought back detailing the outcome of the 
consultation, along with a finalised Framework and Masterplan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Iain McFarlane, City Plan Programme Director  

E-mail: iain.mcfarlane@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8.1

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments


 
Report 
 

West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and 
Masterplan: Draft for Consultation 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report presents the draft West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and 
Masterplan for consideration by Committee. There is a requirement within Place 16 
of the proposed City Plan 2030 for the Council to prepare a masterplan to co-
ordinate the development of a new urban quarter in West Edinburgh. The draft 
Placemaking Framework and Masterplan is provided in Appendix 1. 

2.2 The report sets out the process for consultation on the draft Placemaking 
Framework and Masterplan. 

3. Background 

3.1 The proposed City Plan 2030 contains a number of Place-based Policies which 
outline what kinds of development will be permitted and encouraged. Place 16 West 
Edinburgh states that ‘planning permission will be granted for development which 
will contribute towards the creation of new urban quarters in West Edinburgh 
(specifically H59, H60, H61, H62 and H63 on the Proposals Map) provided it 
accords with the West Edinburgh Development Principles [as outlined in Place 16] 
and the approved or subsequently approved, master plan and phasing plan. The 
Council will coordinate a collaborative, multidisciplinary master plan approach to 
development across these sites’. 

3.2 It states that a ‘West Edinburgh Master Plan’ will be prepared, to support the future 
development of Edinburgh toward net-zero through a housing led mixed-use 
development of a significant new 20-minute neighbourhood’.  

3.3 City Plan 2030 also refers to a review of the existing West Edinburgh Landscape 
Framework and West Edinburgh Strategic Design Framework. 

  

Page 42

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/29997/proposed-plan-written-statement
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/29997/proposed-plan-written-statement
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Planning%20Committee/20111208/Agenda/item_7_edinburgh_planning_guidance_-_west_edinburgh_landscape_framework.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Planning%20Committee/20111208/Agenda/item_7_edinburgh_planning_guidance_-_west_edinburgh_landscape_framework.pdf
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/24208/west-edinburgh-strategic-design-framework


4. Main report 

4.1 Following the requirements set out in the proposed City Plan 2030, a draft West 
Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Masterplan has been prepared. It has been 
produced in collaboration with a range of internal and external stakeholders to ensure 
a multi-disciplinary approach. It builds upon the six Development Principles outlined 
in Place 16 to deliver a high density, mixed-use extension to the city with a strong 
focus on place making, sustainability, connectivity, biodiversity and a strong 
landscape framework based on a green blue network. It takes into account the West 
Edinburgh Transport Appraisal (WETA) and the West Edinburgh Transport 
Improvement Programme (WETIP) as well as the draft Towards West Edinburgh 
2050.  

4.2 The draft Placemaking Framework and Masterplan has been informed by a review of 
the existing West Edinburgh Landscape Framework and West Edinburgh Strategic 
Design Framework including updated landscape and transport work and a green blue 
network study. 

4.3 The draft Placemaking Framework and Masterplan explores options for key 
elements: for example: location of primary schools and high school, Gogarburn 
realignment, open space provision and the nature of development along the A8 
corridor. These will be explored as part of the consultation process. 

4.4 A public engagement exercise will be undertaken in line with the Council’s 
Consultation Policy. This will include engagement with key landowners within and 
around the masterplan area, those living directly in the area, surrounding community 
and interest groups, statutory consultees, key stakeholders and other interested 
organisations.  

5.     Next Steps 

5.1 Committee will receive a further report on the outcomes of the public engagement 
and a finalised version of the West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and 
Masterplan for approval.  

5.2 Once approved in its finalised form, it will replace the West Edinburgh Landscape 
Framework and West Edinburgh Strategic Design Framework. 

6.       Financial Impact 

6.1 There are no immediate financial implications for the Council arising from this 
report.  

7.      Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1  The principle of development of West Edinburgh has been established through 
previous plans and frameworks. It is outlined in the proposed City Plan 2030 and 
was subject to engagement as part of that process. However, further consultation 
and engagement will take place and the responses will be taken into account in 
finalising the Placemaking Framework and Masterplan.  

Page 43

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s55999/7.2%20-%20Towards%20West%20Edinburgh%202050%20-%20referral%20from%20PS%20-%20March%202023.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s55999/7.2%20-%20Towards%20West%20Edinburgh%202050%20-%20referral%20from%20PS%20-%20March%202023.pdf
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/32024/consultation-engagement-policy-v2-1
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/32024/consultation-engagement-policy-v2-1


7.2 An Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) will be undertaken by officers following the 
public consultation to build upon the responses and any issues raised. The IIA will 
be prepared alongside the final version of the Placemaking Framework and 
Masterplan. 

8.   Background Reading/External References 

8.1 City Plan 2030 

8.2 National Planning Framework 4 

8.3 West Edinburgh Transport Appraisal 

8.4 Towards West  Edinburgh 2050: A Spatial Strategy for Inclusive and Sustainable 
Growth. 

9. Appendices 

9.1      Appendix 1 – Draft West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Masterplan. 

 

 

 

 

Page 44

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cityplan2030
https://www.transformingplanning.scot/national-planning-framework/adopted-npf4/
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/25278/west-edinburgh-transport-appraisal-refresh-report-december-2016
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s55999/7.2%20-%20Towards%20West%20Edinburgh%202050%20-%20referral%20from%20PS%20-%20March%202023.pdf


1 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic 
Masterplan: Dra� for Consulta�on 
 
14 June 2023 
 
 

 
Image: Collective Architecture 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 45



2 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

CONTENTS 
 

1. Introduc�on 
 

2. Understanding the Framework area 
 

3. Delivering Net Zero 
 

4. Landscape, Biodiversity, the Green Blue Network and the Airport 
 

5. Strategic Open Space, Play and Recrea�on 
 

6. Strategic Connec�ons, Access and Movement, Parking 
 

7. Living Well Locally: Delivering 20- Minute Neighbourhoods 
 

8. Crea�ng a Dis�nc�ve Place 
 

9. The Strategic Masterplan 
 

10.  Infrastructure First, Delivery and Phasing 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 46



3 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

1.0  Introduc�on 
 
1.1 What is the West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework? 
 
The West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan (WEPF)will form new planning guidance 
to support the objec�ves of the Proposed City Plan 2030, ar�culate a new vision and shape the future 
development of West Edinburgh.  
 
This version has been prepared as a Consulta�on Dra� to form a basis for con�nuing engagement with elected 
members, landowners, local communi�es, key agencies and stakeholders. 
 
The WEPF Consulta�on Dra� further develops aspira�ons for West Edinburgh as outlined in City Plan, this 
forming the Council’s setled view for the area, as established through the Council’s Proposed City Plan 2030 
which was submited for examina�on on 9 December 2022 (Figure 1: City Plan Map 24). 

Proposed City Plan 2030 Place Policy 16 West Edinburgh iden�fies that the exis�ng West Edinburgh Strategic 
Design Framework (WESDF) and West Edinburgh Landscape Framework (WELF) da�ng from 2010 and 2011 
respec�vely, will be reviewed. The policy also iden�fies that a collaborative, multi-disciplinary masterplan for 
West Edinburgh will be coordinated by the Council.  
 
The exis�ng WESDF and WELF embrace a range of landholdings along the A8 corridor extending from Newbridge 
in the west to Edinburgh Gateway in the east, this including Edinburgh Airport, the Royal Highland Centre with 
particular focus on the development of an International Business Gateway (IBG) on greenfield land between 
Ingliston and Gogar.  
 
The planning focus of West Edinburgh, as defined through City Plan Place 16, has now changed from that 
covered by the existing guidance.  
 
In terms of context, the Crosswinds runway at Edinburgh Airport was decommissioned in 2018 and is now 
identified for redevelopment as part of City Plan 2030.  Planning Permission in Principle (15/04318/PPP) has also 
now been granted by Scottish Ministers for major residential-led development at East of Millburn Tower, a 
greenfield site to the south of the A8 (now known as Redheughs Village).  

Crucially, City Plan 2030 identifies West Edinburgh as significant urban extension to the city, supporting 
economic development opportunities within West Edinburgh whilst introducing a balanced mix of uses that 
promote healthy, sustainable lifestyles and a strong sense of place through the 20-Minute Neighbourhood 
principle. Therefore, a range of opportunities for housing development are being bought forward in City Plan 
with a focus on housing-led, high density, mixed-use development.  

Na�onal Planning Framework (NPF) 4 was adopted in February 2023 and now forms part of the Statutory 
Development Plan. NPF4 incorporates na�onal planning policies, addressing key themes of tackling the climate 
and nature crises, climate mi�ga�on and adapta�on, blue and green infrastructure, local living and 20-Minute 
Neighbourhoods and liveable places.  

NPF4 refers to West Edinburgh as a place where a strategy is emerging which guides a wide range of uses to 
create a sustainable extension to the city, with added benefit from associated improvements to the quality of 
place of existing communities. Proposals focus on locating development on and around existing transport 
corridors and work is ongoing to improve accessibility including the Edinburgh tram extension. Further investment 

should take into account the impact of new development on potentially compounding existing capacity 
constraints and congestion and prioritise sustainable choices. 

National planning policy (NPF3) previously identified the potential of West Edinburgh for nationally important 
economic development through the delivery of an International Business Gateway. NPF4 removes this NPF3 
designa�on of a na�onal development of business led development. 
 
The Council has approved the Towards West Edinburgh 2050: A Spatial Strategy for Inclusive and Sustainable 
Growth as a draft for consultation which recognises the importance of the wider West Edinburgh in the national, 
regional and local context.  

Both the WESDF and WELF are now becoming outdated and do not align with the emerging policy context and 
agenda including City Plan 2030 and the new NPF4.  

In view of these issues, the primary focus of the WEPF will be that covered by Place Policy 16. However, given the 
proximity of the Redheughs Village site and the need to form strategic connections, including the development 
of the strategic Green Blue network and enhancement of the Gogar Burn across the wider West Edinburgh area, 
this site has been considered in the broader scope of the WEPF.  
 
A funding package has been secured by the Council to support the development of the WEPF Consulta�on Dra� 
and West Edinburgh Strategic Masterplan, this allowing for a strong focus to be placed on the strategic aspects of 
placemaking, also recognising the importance of net zero, nature crisis, climate change and adapta�on, the 
development of Green Blue Networks, 20-Minute Neighbourhoods, underpinned by a strong placemaking and 
urban design ra�onale.  
 
The Council’s Planning Service have adopted a mul�-disciplinary approach, being closely supported by a 
consultant team including Atkins (Visual Assessment, Landscape, Green Blue infrastructure, Ecology, 
Placemaking), Collec�ve Architecture (Urban Design, Placemaking and Masterplanning) and Mot McDonald 
(Flooding, Drainage and the Gogar Burn). 
 
 
This consulta�ve dra� WEPF has been developed through engagement with landowners, the Sco�sh 
Government and the Key Agencies Group coordinated by Architecture and Design Scotland with representa�on 
from key agencies including SEPA, NatureScot, Sco�sh Water and Historic Environment Scotland. These 
discussions considered approaches to development delivery, strategic masterplanning and the prepara�on of 
‘place-based’ planning guidance. Urban development projects of a comparable scale to West Edinburgh at 
Ebbsfleet in the Thames Gateway and Cambridge North were also examined. This engagement has closely 
informed the approach taken to the prepara�on of the WEPF consulta�on dra�. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 47



4 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 1: City Plan Map 24  

 

 
  

P
age 48



5 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

1.2 City Plan 2030 Strategy 
 
The WEPF has sought to embody key aims of City Plan 2030 including: - 

- Delivering a network of 20-minute walkable neighbourhoods and embedding a ‘place based’ approach 
to the crea�on of high quality, high density, mixed use walkable communi�es, linked by beter ac�ve 
travel and public travel infrastructure, green and blue networks and bringing community services closer 
to homes. 

 
- Suppor�ng the City Plan’s requirement for all new buildings to be net zero in their opera�onal emissions 

through all their fabric, design and use of low and zero-carbon genera�ng technologies and to be more 
resilient to climate change. The WEPF promotes the delivery of heat networks and energy infrastructure 
development to help Edinburgh transi�on to net-zero. 
 

- Implemen�ng environment policies to address the nature crisis, climate change mi�ga�on and 
adapta�on, protect our beau�ful green se�ng, increase biodiversity, physical and mental wellbeing, 
reduce flooding and other climate impacts and improve air quality. 
 

- Delivering land to meet Edinburgh’s housing needs over the next decade and securing a minimum of 35% 
affordable housing. 

 
- Adop�ng an ‘infrastructure first’ approach, direc�ng new development to where there is exis�ng 

infrastructure. Where required to support new development, the Plan requires new and expanded 
community infrastructure including schools, healthcare, sustainable transport, energy and waste to 
support our spa�al strategy. 
 

- Deliver Edinburgh’s key economic land use needs including suppor�ng West Edinburgh and land for 
modern business space as part of housing-led mixed-use development and deliver policies which support 
business to thrive.  

 
 
1.3 How will the WEPF inform development? 
 
The WEPF Consulta�on Dra� will provide a vehicle for engagement with key stakeholders and local communi�es, 
in further ar�cula�ng a future vision for West Edinburgh.  
 
Once finalised it is expected that the West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework (WEPF) will: - 
  

• Provide non-statutory, ‘place based’ planning guidance to support the delivery of Proposed City Plan 
2030, including Place Policy 16, West Edinburgh and the City Mobility Plan. 

 
• Support exemplary placemaking, with a par�cular focus on nature posi�ve, Green Blue infrastructure, 

delivering Net Zero and Living Well Locally, to establish a network of interconnected 20-Minute 
Neighbourhoods.  

 
• Establish Council expecta�ons to prospec�ve developers for the spa�al development of West Edinburgh, 

providing a framework to inform design requirements for individual landholdings and component sites. 
 

• Form a material considera�on for the Council, as Planning Authority, in the determina�on of planning 
applica�ons. 

 
• Provide a strategic planning guidance, addressing issues on a pan site basis, considering the rela�onships 

and linkages between individual landholdings.  
 

• Establish strategic infrastructure requirements, promoting an ‘infrastructure first’ approach to transport, 
green blue network, education and health care infrastructure required to deliver the levels of 
development proposed, this being reflected through the Council’s new Action Programme. 
 

• Provide a further basis for legal agreements to secure developer contribu�ons and other obliga�ons. 
 

• Provide a means of securing Council approval for the West Edinburgh Strategic Masterplan and 
embedding this as part of the suite of planning policy and guidance. 

 
• Complement other Council ini�a�ves, providing a basis for decision making and poten�al investment 

rela�ng to strategic infrastructure and poten�al phasing of development. 
 
The finalised WEPF and the Strategic Masterplan will inform various types of planning applica�ons including 
mul�-stage consents: Planning Permission in Principle (PPP) and Applica�ons for approval of maters specified in 
condi�ons (AMC), and full planning permission applica�ons (FUL).  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.4 What is the planning status of WEPF? 
 
This version has been prepared as a Consulta�on Dra� for the purpose of engagement and consulta�on. 
 
The approval of the Council’s Planning Commitee is now required to take forward to this stage. Engagement 
and consulta�on will take place over a 3-month period between July - September 2023. 
 
At the end of the consulta�on period, all comments received will be carefully considered and where possible the 
Council will seek to reflect on feedback, and address issues raised.  

The engagement process will be undertaken in parallel with examina�on of Proposed City Plan. The Proposed 
Plan currently carries limited material planning weight. It represents the setled view of the Council; however, 
this is limited by the fact that the Proposed Plan is s�ll subject to examina�on. The Reporter has been made 
aware of the con�nued collabora�ve working for West Edinburgh, as set out in the Examina�on submission. This 
may form inform responses to Further Informa�on Requests on the Examina�on. 

Planning applica�ons for significant Local, Major, or Na�onal development within the WEPF area 
will be supported by suitable site masterplans and design parameters, these being agreed at PPP, 
AMC, FUL stages as required. These will be expected to fully align with the finalised West 
Edinburgh Strategic Masterplan and guidance presented through the WEPF. 
 
 
 

P
age 49



6 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Where par�es have submited representa�ons as part of City Plan in rela�on to West Edinburgh, these will be 
considered as part of the City Plan examina�on process.  The Council’s Planning Service will need to pay due 
regard to the Reporter’s findings, as the WEPF and Strategic Masterplan are finalised.      

It is an�cipated that the finalised WEPF and Strategic Masterplan would be presented to Planning Commitee in 
December 2023, or shortly therea�er. 

Once agreed by Planning Commitee, WEPF will become non-statutory planning guidance and a material 
considera�on in the determina�on of planning applica�ons, this suppor�ng the strategy, policies, and outcomes 
of the Development Plan. 

The finalised WEPF will replace the exis�ng West Edinburgh Strategic Design Framework (WESDF) and West 
Edinburgh Landscape Framework (WELF) as a single document. 
 

1.5 How is the WEPF Consulta�on Dra� structured? 

The document structure and chapter headings are based around key themes of City Plan and NPF4, these seen as 
cri�cal to the development of West Edinburgh. These will be reflected in the finalised WEPF document. 

The proposed Key Objec�ves advocated through WEPF Consulta�on Dra� are highlighted in bold/text boxes. 

A series of Discussion Points have been posed at the end each chapter. We would welcome your feedback on 
these issues, in addi�on to more general comments you may have. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

1.6 The West Edinburgh Vision 

The vision is for West Edinburgh to become a vibrant, high-density, mixed-use extension to the city with a focus 
on placemaking, sustainability, connectivity biodiversity and strong landscape framework. 

The WEPF sets out the following themes to carry the vision through to all aspects of the framework and 
development that follows: - 

SUSTAINABLE: Design development around green blue, ac�ve travel and public transport networks. The 
WEPF will integrate, enhance and expand nodes and routes to connect people and nature across West 
Edinburgh and the wider city. 

 

CONNECTED: All parts of the development should incorporate employment, education, recreation, 
greenspace, local facilities and public transport all accessible within a 20-minute (round trip) by walking 
or wheeling. 

 

LIVEABLE: Ensure all parts of the urban and natural environment are attractive and inclusive with high 
amenity standards that promote physical mental health and wellbeing that supports communities at all 
life stages. 

 

HEALTHY: Tackle the challenge of achieving Net Zero through all aspects of the development including 
best prac�ce in construc�on, building performance and longevity, using low and zero carbon energy 
and reducing transport emissions. 

 
GREEN: Put nature, beauty and recrea�on at the core of placemaking and ensure a wide range of 
inclusive and welcoming greenspaces that are accessible via atrac�ve green blue networks woven 
through the whole area and beyond. 

 

THRIVING: Support a wide range of businesses, services and transport choices that create vibrant local 
centres and public spaces through mixed use development at a range of densi�es. 

 

CLIMATE ADAPTED: Complement exis�ng features and topography with innova�ve design and nature-
based solu�ons to achieve benefits such as noise and air quality, temperature regula�on, water 
management, biodiversity and carbon sequestra�on. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 50



7 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

2.0 Understanding the Framework Area 
 
2.1 The West Edinburgh Context 
 
Forming the western periphery of the city, the character of large swathes of West Edinburgh remains 
predominantly rural, interspersed with suburban villages to the west and south-west including Newbridge, 
Kirkliston, Ratho and Ratho Station (Figure 2: West Edinburgh Context Aerial View). 
 
Edinburgh Airport, the Royal Highland Showground, RBS Gogarburn Headquarters and Riccarton Campus 
represent major established uses and employment sites.  

Edinburgh Park and The Gyle has also formed a focus for business development since the 1990s, with significant 
mixed-use development now proposed for Edinburgh Park South. 

West Edinburgh has also seen major investment in public transport over the past two decades including the 
development of Tram Line 1 linking the City Centre with the Airport, rail stations at Edinburgh Park and 
Edinburgh Gateway and the Ingliston Park and Ride facility and enhanced orbital bus services. 

 
2.2 The WEPF Area 
 
The primary focus of the West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework (WEPF) is as per Proposed City Plan 2030 
Policy 16 and Map 24 and its hinterland. The area, lying to the north of the A8 Glasgow Road embraces 190 
hectares, extends from Eas�ield Road in the west to Maybury junc�on in the east, with Edinburgh Airport and 
Turnhouse Road lying to the north (Figure 3: Local Plan Designations). 
 
Proposed City Plan 2030 designates the primary extents of WEPF area to as an ‘Area of Economic Importance’. 
Place Policy 16 promotes a range of new opportunities for housing development, with a focus on housing-led, 
high-density, mixed-use development, with potential for 10,950 residential units (Figure 4: City Plan Map 25- 
Housing Sites). These include: -   
 

• H59 – Saica Packaging, Turnhouse Road (1,000 units) 
• H60 – West Craigs Industrial Estate (formerly West Craigs Quarry), Turnhouse Road (200 units) 
• H61 – Crosswinds (former Airport runway) (2,500 units) 
• H62 – Land adjacent to Edinburgh Gateway (lying east of the Gogar Burn), Glasgow Road (250 units) 
• H63 – Edinburgh 205 (land between IBG Phase 1 and Castle Gogar Estate, lying west of the Gogar Burn) 

(7,000 units) 
• IBG Phase 1 (land to the east of Eastfield Road)  

 
An application for planning permission in principle (PPP) relating to the IBG Phase 1 area (Reference: - 
15/05580/PPP) is currently the subject to call-in by Scottish Ministers. 
 
Place Policy 16 also identifies an area to the north-west of the Crosswinds site as having potential for 
development as it contains the now decommissioned runway within the operational area of Edinburgh Airport. 
This area is important for realising transport connections identified as part of City Plan, including a potential 
secondary access to the Airport. 
 
 

2.3 KEY ISSUES 
 
2.3.1 Strategic Connec�vity 
 
In terms of road infrastructure, West Edinburgh is primarily served by the A8/A89 corridor, this providing linkages 
between the City Centre, A720 City Bypass, Edinburgh Airport, and the motorway network. 
 
The WEPF area has also seen significant public transport investment over the past decade including the 
development of Edinburgh Tram Line 1 which traverses the area and Edinburgh Gateway Intermodal Sta�on, 
these providing key transport infrastructure in advance of future development. 
 
However, in terms of pedestrian, active travel and public transport connectivity, large parts of the WEPF area are 
weakly connected to their hinterland and the wider city.  

This, in part, can be attributed to the presence of significant edges which bound the WEPF area, including dual 
carriageways and major traffic intersections, the Edinburgh-Fife railway and adjacent pattern of uses including 
the Airport where access is restricted. 

The delivery of sustainable transport infrastructure from the outset of development will be cri�cal to the 
development of the WEPF area. Transport interventions to support the levels of development proposed has 
been extensively considered as part of the West Edinburgh Transport Appraisal (WETA) Study 2016 and 
Transport Appraisal prepared as part of City Plan 2030.  
 
Key transport infrastructure will include the development of a ‘Gogar Link Road’, linking Eastfield Road with 
Edinburgh Gateway and the Gogar roundabout, with this supported by measures to enhance east-west bus 
movement across the area with an extensive active travel network.  

The West Edinburgh Transport Improvement Programme (WETIP) currently being led by the Council is seeking to 
deliver a range of enhancement measures as part of the Edinburgh and South East Scotland Region City region 
deal, with a par�cular focus on public transport and ac�ve travel along A8/A89 Corridor.  

These issues are further considered as part of Chapter 6. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 51



8 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

2.3.2 Landscape Character and Views 
 
The key landscape characteris�cs of the WEPF area include mature trees, par�cularly those associated with the 
Castle Gogar Estate, the Gogar Burn river valley and undula�ng ridge which defines the southern edge of the 
area. The River Almond is situated to the north. Key views indicate that the area lies in a lowered area of 
landscape so is visible par�cularly in winter from various well-used view points. 
 
Landscape character and views are key factors which must inform development, strategic landscaping and 
outward facing edges. The layout and design affect both how development shall be perceived from the 
surrounding area and key vantage points from further afield, as well as how development should seek to offer 
outward views of key heritage and landscape features.  
 
Key landscape features visible from the WEPF area include the Pentlands, the Ochil Hills, the West Lothian Shale 
Bings, Lennie Hill, Corstorphine Hill, Arthur’s Seat, the Forth Bridge and Edinburgh Airport Control Tower.  
 
Internal to the area, the Category A listed Castle Gogar and the Category B listed former Gogar Parish Church 
represent important heritage and landscape features.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2.3.3 Trees and Woodland  
 
The WEPF area contains a range of mature trees, structural planting and woodland including: - 
 

• Castle Gogar Estate – Mature trees and woodland forming the setting of Category A listed Castle Gogar 
and Castle Gogar Drive; a tree lined avenue. This area forms a significant landscape feature within the 
WEPF area. 

 
• Gogar Parish Church – Mature trees forming the setting of the Category B listed building and eastern 

boundary of the Gogar Burn.      
 

• Trees lining the Gogar Burn Corridor.  
 

• Various mature tree and hedgerow boundaries evident across the area including the tram line. 
 

• RBS Gogarburn – Mature trees forming a contemporary parkland setting for the RBS headquarters, these 
covered by a blanket Tree Preservation Order. 

 
• Tree planting screening the A8 Glasgow Road, A720 City Bypass and Ingliston Park & Ride site. 

 
• Millburn Tower – Mature woodland along the western boundary of the Redheughs Village site.  

 
• 19th Century informal designed landscape recorded in the Inventory of Gardens and Designed 

Landscapes, also forming setting of Millburn Tower.   
 

2.3.4 Topography 
 
The topography of the WEPF area is defined by an undula�ng ridge with land level rising to the north of the A8, 
Glasgow Road. A pronounced fall in land levels occurs towards the tram line with lower lying land evident 
towards the Gogar Burn, the Airport and the River Almond (Figure 5: Topography of the Site). 
 
The southern edge of the Crosswinds site is similarly defined by a low escarpment ridge to the north of the Tram 
Depot and Edinburgh Gateway, with land levels gently falling towards the Airport and River Almond. 
 
A Landscape Visual Study has been prepared by the Consultant team as part of the WEPF commission. This has 
considered the rela�ve visibility of different scales of development and poten�al impacts to the landscape se�ng 
of the city and recommended mi�ga�on measures.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Topography will influence where development, par�cularly larger buildings might be best 
placed. Development proposals should seek to respond to the topography of the WEPF area, 
the landscape context and the se�ng of the city, whilst also minimising the need for regrading 
of land, soil disturbance and carbon impact.  
 

Development of the WEPF area should priori�se the reten�on, se�ng and key views of landscape 
and heritage features to provide a strong sense of place and seek to respond to the landscape 
character. 
 

WEPF will consider the rela�onships and strategic connec�vity with adjacent areas, as outlined below, 
and iden�fy measures to address issues of severance created by major edges. Where possible, new 
linkages should seek to reinforce connectivity via the strategic Green Blue Network. 

- Edinburgh Airport 
- The Gyle Centre and Edinburgh Park 
- West Craigs/Maybury – a major housing led development (1750 units) currently under 

construc�on on land immediately to the north-east 
- Land East of Millburn Tower (Redheughs Village) - planning permission in principle granted for 

1350 residen�al units immediately to the south of A8, Glasgow Road 
- RBS Gogarburn 
- The Royal Highland Showground 
- The Turnhouse and Craigs Road area to the north-east including Lennie Cotages  
- Ratho village, Ratho Sta�on, Newbridge and Kirkliston to the west and south-west 

 
Establishing strategic connec�ons with adjacent areas will be cri�cal to realising Living Well Locally and 
delivering 20-Minute Neighbourhoods, as outlined in Chapter 7. 
 
 

P
age 52



9 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

2.3.5 Surface Water and Flood Risk 
 
The WEPF area contains loca�ons of flood risk including the exis�ng Gogar Burn corridor, Castle Gogar and the 
southern extents of Edinburgh Airport (Figure 6: Surface Water and Flood Risk Mapping). 
 
It will be cri�cal to ensure that development of the WEPF area seeks to reduce flood risk and achieve climate 
resilience through sustainable approaches to flood risk and surface water management. 
 
Accoun�ng for exis�ng and projected flood risk from mul�ple sources in a holis�c way that includes the impact of 
climate change and using the precau�onary principle will be key. 

Issues rela�ng to the Water Environment including the management of surface water and flood risk are further 
considered in Chapter 4, Landscape, the Green Blue Network and the Airport 
 
 
2.3.6 The Gogar Burn 
 
The Gogar Burn, a watercourse forming a tributary of the River Almond, with catchment extending into West 
Lothian, flows south to north across the WEPF area. Both the Gogar Burn and River Almond are designated as a 
Local Nature Conserva�on Site. 
 
A poten�al diversion and restora�on of the Gogar Burn within West Edinburgh, to reduce food risk, improve 
water quality and enhance biodiversity has been a longstanding aspira�on. To support this, a safeguarded 
alignment (Policy Proposal GS7) is currently iden�fied in the Council’s Local Development Plan and this is now 
reflected in the Proposed City Plan 2030 as Environment Proposal BGN49 and is iden�fied on Map 24. 
 
The safeguarded poten�al realignment is indica�ve, and if taken forward, it is an�cipated that an exact route 
would be refined through further detailed work and modelling but will likely require some meandering. 
  
As part of WEPF, poten�al op�ons for the Gogar Burn are being further explored by the Council and key agencies 
including SEPA, Sco�sh Water and NatureScot. Technical feasibility work has been undertaken by Mot 
Macdonald on behalf of the Council, allowing a poten�al diversionary channel to be modelled in greater detail.  
However, airport bird hazard restric�ons would have a significant bearing on the design approach and on-going 
discussions are taking place with Edinburgh Airport’s Safeguarding Team and have informed the proposals in the 
WEPF. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.3.7 Heritage, Archaeology and Landmarks 
 
The WEPF area contains and is bounded by a range of significant heritage assets which include: - 
 

• Gogar Mains, Iron Age fort, palisaded enclose and field system (Scheduled Ancient Monument -SAM) 
• Castle Gogar and associated buildings (Category A listed, 17th Century - 19th Century) 
• Castle Gogar Bridge (Category B listed, 17th Century)  
• Castle Gogar Lodge, Gate and Gate Piers (Category B listed, 19th Century) 
• Former Gogar Parish Church and Graveyard (Category B listed, late 19th/early 16th Century)   
• Gogar Mains farmhouse and steading (Unlisted, early 19th Century) 
• Gogar Park Villa, Glasgow Road (Category C listed)  
• Millburn Tower (Category B listed, early 19th Century) 
• Millburn Tower (Gardens and Designed Landscape) 
• 2nd World War pill box associated with RAF Turnhouse (Unlisted)  

 
These features have played an important influence in the historical development of West Edinburgh and make a 
significant contribu�on to create a unique sense of place. Their presence of each have been carefully considered 
in the prepara�on of the Dra� Framework and Strategic Masterplan (Figure 7: Heritage, Archaeology and 
Landmarks). 
 

 
 
 
Discussion Points 
 

• Do you agree with the overview of key issues and analysis of the WEPF area? Should any other issues be 
considered? 
 
 

 
 
 
  The development of the WEPF area across multiple sites now presents a potential opportunity for the 

coordinated restoration and enhancement of the Gogar Burn. Potential options for the Gogar Burn are 
further discussed as part of Chapter 4, Landscape, Green Blue Network and the Airport. 
 

All heritage assets iden�fied within the WEPF area should be retained, protected, restored or reused as 
applicable, with due regard to their historic interest and se�ng.  

 
 

P
age 53



10 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 2: West Edinburgh Context Aerial View 
 

 
  

P
age 54



11 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 3: Local Plan Designa�ons 
 

 
  

P
age 55



12 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 4: City Plan Map 25 - Housing Sites 
 

  

P
age 56



13 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 5: Topography of the Site 

 

  

P
age 57



14 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 6: Surface Water and Flood Risk Mapping 

 

  

P
age 58



15 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 7: Heritage, Archaeology and Landmarks 

 

P
age 59



16 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

3.0 Delivering Net Zero  

 
Delivering Net Zero forms a core principle of the proposed West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework.  
  
All development in West Edinburgh should serve as an exemplar for best prac�ce as Edinburgh transforms into a 
Net Zero City.  This chapter sets out the overarching principles on how this shall be achieved.  
 
3.1 Sustainable Buildings 
 
All buildings should achieve net zero operational carbon emissions to meet Proposed City Plan Policy Env 8, 
Sustainable Buildings, primarily through built fabric efficiency. 
 
All buildings must be long-life, use sustainable construction materials, designed to be resilient to climate change 
and capable of being repurposed for future changes of use – as per City Plan Policy Env 7, Sustainable 
Developments. Building materials must meet or exceed best practice for embodied carbon emissions and be 
capable of re-use at the end of the building’s life cycle. This would also be applicable to the design infrastructure 
and landscape.     
 
3.2 Energy 
 
The location and proposed density of development in West Edinburgh provides an opportunity to generate and 
utilise energy from net zero sources. 
 
Heating should be provided via heat networks using renewable energy unless an existing heat source can be 
utilised that generates no additional emissions to serve the development as per City Plan Policy, Inf 16, 
Sustainable Energy and Heat Networks. Electricity should be from wholly renewable sources as part of the 
development.  
 
The scope and nature of a coordinated heat network can be considered further once more detailed information 
is established in this consultative draft, for example in relation to school locations given the importance of 
understanding more about prospective end-users and anchor loads as part of heat network planning.  
 
3.3 Sustainable Travel 
 
Create dense, 20-Minute Neighbourhoods centred around good public transport and ac�ve travel links with a 
minimal need for travel by private car. 
 
Promote mobility hubs at public transport nodes and areas of high foo�all to promote sustainable travel op�ons.  
 
Limit parking levels whilst maximising opportuni�es for electric vehicle charging.     
 
3.4 Green Blue Infrastructure 
 
Green and blue infrastructure solu�ons shall be used rather than hard engineered solu�ons to address issues 
such as surface water management – as per City Plan Policy Env 7, Green Blue Infrastructure. This shall reduce 
embodied carbon emissions associated with construc�on of infrastructure and present opportuni�es to capture 
carbon emissions. Green blue infrastructure should be designed to be low maintenance to reduce emissions 
associated with upkeep. Maximise the reten�on of exis�ng blue and green space to preserve soils in-situ. Where 
soil is excavated this should be reused on site. 

Discussion Points 
 

• Do you agree with the level of emphasis and Net Zero measures that have been identified? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 60



17 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

4.0 Landscape, Biodiversity, Green Blue Network and the Airport 
 
4.1 Green Blue Network 
 
The natural environment including greenspace, trees, water, biodiversity are essen�al factors in climate 
regula�on, flood management, health and the quality of life.  
 
Green, blue and green-blue spaces play an important role in recrea�on, health and biodiversity and improve 
climate resilience by providing rainwater management, flood allevia�on and urban cooling. 
 
When green and blue spaces are spa�ally connected, they can form a ‘network’, enhancing the benefits they 
offer as stand-alone spaces. Connec�ons between spaces can act as conduits for water flows, corridors for 
pollina�on and animal or insect movement. They can also serve as recrea�on routes, provide mi�ga�on against 
noise when bunds are designed and offer enhancement to air quality.  
 
City Plan Environment Proposal BGN48 - West Edinburgh Green Network requires development to consider how 
the area connects into the wide, strategic green network in West Edinburgh in creating a landscape structure 
and green network as a setting for development which incorporates north-south and east-west corridors, linked 
blue/green spaces, water management and ecosystem services (Figure 8: Strategic Green Network).  
 
Specifically, this network will support the implementation of National Developments and Policies identified in 
NPF4: -  
 
Na�onal Development 5: ‘Urban Sustainable, Blue and Green Surface Water Management Solu�ons’ which 
require blue green infrastructure to be priori�sed within developments as part of the infrastructure first principle 
to provide resilience and adapta�on to climate change.   
 
National Development 7: ‘Central Scotland Green Network’ identifies that ‘priorities will include enhancement 
to provide multi-functional green blue infrastructure that provide the greatest environmental, lifelong and 
physical health, social wellbeing and economic benefits.’  
 
Policy 1, Tackling the Climate and Nature Crises 
 
Policy 2, Climate Mitigation and Adaptation 
 
Policy 3, Biodiversity 
 
Policy 4, Natural Places 
 
Policy 5, Soils 
 
Policy 20, Blue and Green infrastructure  
 
Policy 22, Flood Risk and Water Management 
 
The provision of a strategic Green Blue Network is fundamental to the development of an interconnected, 
climate adapted, biodiverse new area of the city. At its heart, the network should provide multiple benefits, 
especially for the movement of people, nature and water. 
 

The Green Blue Network has various components, ranging from larger scale open spaces and connec�ng green 
corridors/routes, down to small scale individual green blue features such as street trees and on-street rain 
gardens (Figure 9: Green Blue Network).   
 

        
  
4.2 The Water Environment   
 
The Gogar Burn forms the principal watercourse passing through the WEPF area and is fed by several smaller 
watercourses including the Ratho Channel and various field drains.  It flows into the River Almond located to the 
north of the WEPF area. 
 
NPF4 Policy 20, Blue and Green Infrastructure requires blue green infrastructure to be prioritised within 
developments as part of the infrastructure first principles to provide resilience and adaptation to climate 
change.  The Vision for Water Management in the City of Edinburgh highlights key objectives for Water 
Management in Edinburgh.  
 
Climate change predictions require a new way of thinking about surface water management and the Green Blue 
Network is fundamental in realising the effective, safe management of surface water.   
 

The delivery of a Strategic Green Blue Network will be critical to the sustainable development of West 
Edinburgh. This would link into the wider green network of the city allowing connectivity for habitats and 
species movement. The Green Blue Network would allow people to move comfortably through and beyond 
the WEPF area by walking and wheeling in attractive, safe, green environments.  
 
Green Corridors/Routes within the Green Blue Network should be a minimum width of 40 metres to 
incorporate the active travel routes and the required network of natural spaces.  

Green Streets within the Green Blue Network must be wide enough to provide multi-functional benefits with 
a width of 33 - 38 metres. 
 
There should be a continuous, connected off road active travel route - minimum width 40 metres - forming 
around WEPF area to maximise accessibility and recreational benefits. 
 
Different landscape treatments will provide a robust landscape structure that corresponds to the proposed 
Character Areas creating a strong sense of identity and providing ecosystem services.  
 
There shall be a presumption against noise fencing in WEPF, looking at landscape solutions to mitigate 
against noise. 
 
Green blue infrastructure within the proposed network shall be maintained by a landscape management 
company, apart areas which would be maintained by the Council and private gardens. These will include:  
 

• All large parks   
• All roads and public realm   
• All landscapes subject to Section 7 which will remain the liability of the Council but maintained by 

the developer’s landscape management company.    

P
age 61



18 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Sustainable water management will form an integral component of the Green Blue Network in the WEPF area. 
Surface water will be managed using SUDS and nature-based solutions integrating green and grey infrastructure 
with a presumption against gullies, tanking or surface water entering the sewage system. 
 

• All local level storm events up to the 1 in 30 years (+ climate change) shall be attenuated within plots, 
green streets, green corridors and green spaces using nature-based solutions including planted dry 
swales, SUDS trees and raingardens along the routes. 

 
• Landscape and roads within the development should be designed to convey exceedance flows caused by 

storm events up to 1 in 200 years (+ climate change) to greenspaces for attenuation and infiltration.  
 

• The Gogar Burn restoration and enhancement will provide flood alleviation capacity for up to 1 in 1000 
year (+ climate change). 

 
• Greenspaces used for attenuation should provide attractive shallow and multifunctional basins 

integrated with park design. Selected hard landscaped areas can also be designed to provide temporary 
attenuation. 

 
• Existing natural drainage features within the WEPF area shall be retained as part of development. 

 
However, airport bird strike hazard management restrictions present significant challenges in respect of the 
water environment. The risk of attracting hazard bird species to the area and on-going maintenance of that risk 
means within the landscape rainwater must only stay on the ground surface for up to 48 hours. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.3 The Gogar Burn  
 
The historic channel of the Gogar Burn has been extensively modified and culverted during the 20th Century, 
most notably during the development of Edinburgh Airport. 
 
This has led to fragmentation of the habitat required to support fish and other aquatic life and prevents 
upstream passage. These modifications have also exacerbated flooding and accumulation of silt. The presence of 
invasive Giant Hogweed is common along the Gogar Burn and requires co-ordinated removal. As such, the 
existing section of the Gogar Burn which crosses the WEPF area has scope to be improved.  
 
The development of the WEPF area across multiple sites now presents a potential opportunity for a coordinated 
restoration and diversion of the Gogar Burn. This has the potential to reduce flood risk to the Airport and the risk 
of standing water to the surrounding landscape by the creation of a new channel feature linking the existing river 
to the Almond.  
 
This would also present opportunities to enhance certain habitats. However, the proximity of the Airport 
requires very careful attention to all aspects of the design and maintenance regimes in order not to increase the 
risk of attracting hazard bird species. This includes any increased flood risk to the surrounding landscape as 
standing water can attract hazardous birds. 
 
As flooding is expected to increase due to climate change, this adds another dimension to the design challenge 
to the restoration or potential diversion of the Gogar Burn. Therefore, whilst potential for complete nature 
restoration is complex, the design of the river environment could provide suitable habitats for a mix of species 
and non-risk bird species. 
 
Alternatively, a safeguarded corridor and buffer zone for the Gogar Burn could form a central part of a strategic 
Green Blue Network, connecting sites within the WEPF area and across the wider city. A safeguarded alignment 
should function as a green corridor, until such a time a project to divert and restore the Burn could be realised. 
 
In terms of the current stage of design development to restore, enhance and/or divert the Burn, these can be 
summarised as follows: - 
  
Option 1 - This option provides a full channel restoration, lowering flood risk and allowing fish passage by 
designing the routes to be compatible with fish movement upstream. The existing river channel could be used 
for SUDS drainage of the Airport and the WEPF sites (Figure 10: Blue Networks and Surface Water Management: 
Option 1). 
 
Option 2 - The option would not move the river but provide a flood relief channel reducing flood risk for the 
Airport. This solution is unlikely to achieve fish or safe otter passage (Figure 11: Blue Networks and Surface 
Water Management: Option 2). 
 
There are a number of different landscape designs that need to be explored in more detailed for both option 1 
and option 2, and the advantages and disadvantages carefully weighed up. 
 
To further develop and advance these proposals, it is recommended that a Gogar Burn Partnership be 
established between the Council and key agencies including Nature Scot, Scottish Water, SEPA, West Lothian 
Council and Edinburgh Airport to look at the Gogar Burn catchment holistically to improve both flooding issues 
and nature recovery.    
  
 
 

The conveyance and management of surface water must be considered early in the design process of 
the Green Blue Network. This must be in accordance with the requirements of the current flood 
regulations, Council policy and Edinburgh’s Water Management Vision.  
 
The Green Blue Network will allow water to move safely preventing standing water to reduce bird 
hazard risk to the Airport. Landscape features will be used to safely move the water above ground for 
reuse and dispersal and on beyond the WEPF area during larger rainfall events. No gullies will be 
acceptable.  
 
All water attenuation features shall be designed to avoid holding standing water for more than 48 
hours to deter birds in line with Airport safeguarding requirements. Potential for underground 
attenuation in raingardens and sports pitches for reuse in drought periods should be explored. 
Underground storage tanks will not be acceptable.  
 
Existing man-made drainage features within the WEPF area shall be carefully considered, retained and 
re-meandered in green routes/corridors.  
 
 

P
age 62



19 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

4.4 Trees and Woodland  
 
The trees and woodland make an important contribution to the character, history and quality the WEPF area 
providing biodiversity, landscape, water attenuation and cultural benefits including mental health benefits.  
 

 

 
4.5 Soil  
 
NPF4, Policy 5 - Soils seeks to minimise levels of disturbance to soils on previously undeveloped land. The 
disturbance of soils can also contribute to a loss of carbon storage. The WEPF advocates working with the area’s 
topography to minimise the need for building development platforms.  
 

 
 
4.6 Biodiversity 
 
At the G7 summit in June 2021, the UK committed to ‘halt and reverse biodiversity loss’ by 2030, becoming 
Nature Positive by 2030. Edinburgh has since declared a Nature Emergency in February 2023.  
 
Habitats present within the WEPF area include the partly modified Gogar Burn, grassland areas of scrub, 
woodland, and mature trees. There is evidence of a range of species including otter, a variety of birds and insects 
with potential for bats and reptiles.  
 
The West Edinburgh Development Principles in City Plan 2030 Place 16 identifies that there is a requirement ‘for 
a sustainable place with increased biodiversity and a net zero carbon target and adapted to climate change’. 
 
 
4.7 Creating places for nature close to the Airport   
 
The proximity of the WEPF area to Edinburgh Airport and the requirement to consider hazards relating to bird 
strike presents challenges relating to restoring habitat and habitat rich landscape design. However, the creation 
of an interconnected green blue network will allow for ecological connectivity throughout the site and will 
provide an opportunity for a type of nature network to be created subject to Airport restrictions.  
 

Developing places to maximise opportunities for nature will be possible through careful and detailed landscape 
design but development must not result in increased risk to the Airport. 
   

  
  
Discussion Points 
 
The WEPF Consultation Draft establishes a rationale for the development of a Strategic Green Blue Network this 
addressing flood risk, climate adaptation and nature recovery. 
 

• Do you agree with the overarching aims, location, and extents of the proposed Green Blue Network?  
 

• Should alternative proposals be considered and, if so, where should Green Blue infrastructure be 
optimally located? 

 
• The restoration, enhancement and potential diversion of the Gogar Burn forms a key element to the 

development of a Green Blue Network within West Edinburgh. Of the options outlined in relation to the 
Gogar Burn which do you prefer and why? 

 
• Do you support the setting up of a partnership to look at the Gogar Burn holistically? 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The removal and movement of soil shall be minimised by designing development to respect existing 
topography. Soil that is moved shall be temporarily stored and reused on site.     
 
 

The proposed Green Blue Network could: -  
 

• Retain natural features of ecological value and link existing habitats at ground level.   
 

• Provide fish and otter passage from the Almond River and along the Gogar Burn to the Almond.  
 

• Contain a selection of trees, hedging, grassland and shrubs this being subject to agreed maintenance 
regimes to ensure the planting design does not attract hazard bird species.  

 
• Contain appropriate trees but maintain space between canopies and avoid standing water in all 

landscapes.   
   

• Maximise pollinators using native or sterile planting mixes which do not provide food for hazard bird 
species and ensure grass management systems are in place.   

  
• Avoid all flat roofs, green roofs, blue roofs and any upstanding solar panel on roofs to avoid the 

habitats that attract hazard species e.g. gulls.   
 

All exis�ng trees, woodland and hedgerows iden�fied within the WEPF area should be retained and 
incorporated as part the proposed Green Blue Network and landscape design for individual 
developments.  
 
New tree planting shall be included to renew Edinburgh’s canopy cover, this being climate change 
resilient and addressing with Airport Safeguarding requirements. A significant overall tree canopy of 
30% of overall space between buildings, aligned with Airport requirements, will be provided to help 
create a climate resilient development.   
 
 

P
age 63



20 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

 
 
Figure 8: Strategic Green Network 
 

  

P
age 64



21 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

 
Figure 9: Green Blue Network 
 

 
  

P
age 65



22 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 10: Blue Networks and Surface Water Management: Op�on 1 
 

 

  

P
age 66



23 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 11: Blue Networks and Surface Water Management: Op�on 2 
 

 

P
age 67



24 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

5.0  Strategic Open Space, Play and Recrea�on 
 
5.1 Open Space Hierarchy 
 
WEPF seeks to establish a clearly defined hierarchy of open space to support the level of development of a major 
extension to the city.   
 
Principles outlined in City Plan Place Policy 16 refer to a strategic green network in West Edinburgh crea�ng a 
landscape structure and se�ng for development which incorporate green routes/corridors and views. 
 
The Council’s Open Space Strategy sets out that all homes should be adequately served by open space in line 
with the standards for different sizes of open space. Place Policy 16 further states that development shall provide 
new outdoor play facili�es as necessary to ensure all homes in the site are adequately served by play facili�es in 
line with the Play Access Standard set out in the set out in the Open Space Strategy. 
 
City Plan also outlines a series of Environment Proposals (BGN 52-56) which ar�culate requirements for open 
space and play facili�es rela�ng to specific sites within the WEPF area.     
 
The provision of quality greenspaces will be key to realising 20-Minute Neighbourhood objectives. NPF4 Policy 
15 – Local Living and 20 Minute Neighbourhoods states that consideration must be given to the level and 
quality of interconnectivity of development with the surrounding area, including local access to playgrounds, 
informal play opportunities, parks, green streets and spaces, community gardens, opportunities for food 
growth and allotments, sport, and recreation facilities. 

  
THE WEPF area is currently heavily contained by significant edges with an absence of strategic connections to 
the surrounding area.  The WEPF outlines a series of measures to address these issues. However, it will be 
critical that a hierarchy of greenspace forms an integral component of the WEPF approach - both to support 
20-minute neighbourhood principles and the realisation of a sustainable communities at the early stages of 
development.  
 
Proposals for Open Space and the Green Blue Network outlined in the WEPF Consulta�on Dra� will inform the 
Council’s new Open Space Strategy, which will replace the exis�ng Open Space 2021. This document will outline 
Edinburgh’s strategy to protect, look a�er and expand the city’s network of green spaces for the next 5 years. 
 
The provision of parks and Green Blue Network within the WEPF area is cognisant of open space and green 
network provision in the wider area. Where possible, WEPF seeks to promote connec�ons to adjacent parks and 
strategic Green Blue network, e.g. new large parks now implemented as part of the West Craigs/Maybury 
development (Figure 12: Parks and Play Facilities). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
5.2 Large Parks 
 
The WEPF area should be served by a coordinated network of large open spaces, these forming the founda�on 
for a comprehensive Green Blue Network for West Edinburgh.  The network should seek to provide connec�ons 
between the various parks both across the WEPF area and beyond. 
 
Large Parks should meet the following requirements: -  
 

- Be greater than 2 hectares. 
- Be located so as to ensure all homes in the development are within a 10-minute walking distance (800 

metre walk) of an accessible large greenspace of at least 2 hectares. 
- Should contain areas of genuine open space as well as more natural areas, these providing both habitat 

value for ecology as well as informal play opportuni�es. 
 

- Explore poten�al for sustainable energy provision i.e. ground source heat pumps.  
 
The various large parks will perform a range of important water management func�ons, as outlined in Chapter 4.  
 
  
To support the level of development proposed it is expected that the WEPF area would include the following: -  
 
1) Parkland focussed on the Gogar Burn, lying to the east of the Castle Gogar Estate, including a poten�al 
realigned Gogar Burn channel extending to the north of the WEPF area. 
2) Archaeological Park based on the Gogar Mains Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM). Due to its heritage 
significance, the underlying landform must be retained with no groundworks.  
3) Linear Park to the A8 edge fronting Glasgow Road with a landscape treatment forming an attractive 
boundary and gateway into Edinburgh and the City. 
4) Central park located at the proposed Gogar Local Centre and adjacent to the indicative locations of the 
proposed Primary and Secondary School. 
5) North western park located north east of the Ingliston Local Centre and associated primary school. 
 
 
 
 
 

Everyone living in the WEPF area should have access to a range of green space and outdoor facilities. 
The WEPF Consultation Draft promotes a Hierarchy of Open Space to meet varied needs, support the 
development of a Strategic Green Blue Network, provide a structure for development and 
infrastructure and 20-Minute Neighbourhoods. This would include: -  
 

• Large Parks 
• Local Parks 
• Allotments and Community Gardens 
• Other public green spaces including Green Routes/Corridors, a Central East-West Link, Green 

Streets, Neighbourhood Spaces, Pocket Parks, Natural Places and private gardens. 
• Play Spaces 

 

P
age 68



25 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

5.3 Local Parks 
 
In some instances, it will be necessary to make provision for local parks to supplement the network of large parks 
in addi�on to the green space shown on the Masterplan/ Park and Play Facili�es maps. Given their smaller scale, 
it may not be possible to accommodate the same range of func�ons and character, but a level of variance should 
be achieved in their design.  
 
Local Parks should meet the following requirements: - 
 

- Greater than 500 square metres. 
- Local greenspaces close to homes play an important role in how people feel about their neighbourhood 

and offer convenient spaces for the everyday enjoyment of the outdoors. 
- All homes should be within a 5-minute walking distance (400 metres walk) of a ‘good’ quality accessible 

greenspace of at least 500 square metres. 
- Provide open space of a nature for smaller groups of people, par�cularly younger children. 
- Should contain areas of genuine open space as well as more natural areas, these providing both habitat 

value for ecology as well as informal play opportuni�es. 
 

Local Parks within the WEPF area are expected to play an important water management func�on, as set out in 
Chapter 4, with surface water management areas serving as atrac�ve features of ecological value. 
 
 
5.4 Allotments and Community Gardens 
 
The design of allotment sites should meet the standards set out in the Sco�sh Allotments Site Design Guide 
2013, with provision being based on the equivalent of 1 plot per 50 units.  
 
 
5.5 Off Road Ac�ve Travel Green Routes/Green Corridors 
 
The green routes offer semi-natural, off-road paths for walking, wheeling and cycling to ensure a more natural 
and quieter route for people, crea�ng green corridors.  
 
Green Routes/Corridors will also play an important role in crea�ng nature networks and facilita�ng surface water 
management - providing routes to take water from exceedance events (large storms) safely into larger 
greenspaces and lower lying areas. The presence of plan�ng and swales have the poten�al to enhance 
biodiversity. 
 
Green Routes  are shown in figure 9, including  links with the Strategic Green Blue Network in the following 
loca�ons: - 
 

• A8/Gogarstone Road – poten�al ‘at-grade’ crossing over the A8 to provide link with Gogarstone Road 
(promote as a poten�al ‘Quiet Route’), open countryside and Ratho Village.  

• A8/Gogar Sta�on Road – At-grade crossing over the A8 to provide a link between Castle Gogar Estate via 
the Gogar Burn corridor, Redheughs Village, open countryside and Riccarton Campus.  

• Northern bridge link over the railway to Turnhouse Road – poten�al linkages to open countryside 
including Lennie Hill, Cammo Park Estate, River Almond valley and John Muir Way at Cramond Brig. 

• Bridge link over railway to link Crosswinds area with West Craigs/Maybury development and open 
space network.  

• Bridge over railway to link Edinburgh Gateway with Green routes being implemented as part of West 
Craigs/Maybury development.  

 
 

 
5.6 Central East-West Link 
 
A Central East- West link would generally align with the tram route as it runs through the H63 site, before 
crossing the Gogar Burn and Castle Gogar Estate towards Edinburgh Gateway to the north side of the Tram 
Depot. The link would also provide a green setting for sections of the proposed ‘Main Street’ (also referred to as 
the Gogar Link Road.)   
 
This area would also serve as a Green Route with a range of characters evident along its length, including 
proposed plaza areas at Ingliston Local Centre and Gogar Town Centre. However, the condi�ons presented by the 
tram route, i.e. topography, embankments, cu�ngs, drainage infrastructure and vehicle crossing loca�ons 
previously delivered as part of tram construc�on will have a bearing on future development layout.  Various 
areas have been ‘tested’ to illustrate the design approach which has informed the development of the WEPF and 
Masterplan.  
 
The posi�on of addi�onal crossings to ensure effec�ve permeability through the WEPF area, par�cularly for 
walking and wheeling will also require careful considera�on with these being signalised for safety. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
5.7 Green Streets 
 
Green Streets will play an important role within the WEPF area, bringing Green Blue infrastructure into the urban 
environment alongside vehicular travel in a way that benefits people, nature, active travel, water management 
and climate resilience. 
 
Green Streets can comprise a variety of green spaces such as play, gardens, quiet seating areas and meeting 
places offering opportunities for SUDS feature including raingardens and urban swales. Active travel routes 
should generally be segregated from the vehicular carriageway. 
 

A key aspect of the WEPF area layout and Green Blue Network should be a Central East-West Link, 
this incorporating the existing tram route and sections of the proposed ‘Main Street’ with a range of 
landscape and urban characters being introduced along its length. 
 
 

Green routes within the Green Blue Network shall be wide enough to provide mul�-func�onal benefits 
with a minimum width of 40 metres to ensure a green corridor func�on. All green routes within the 
WEPF area should seek to promote a con�nuous, connected off-road path network to facilitate recrea�on 
and safe routes, and should include circular walks and running routes. The designs will consider the 
percep�on and reality of safety for people and all footpaths and cycleways should be illuminated. 
 

P
age 69



26 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

These would serve a complementary role to green routes by achieving benefits in the finer grain of an urban 
environment and alongside vehicular travel, which means they can be achieved in many circumstances where 
Green Routes are not possible.   
 
 

 
 

 
Indicative Green Street section (Atkins/Collective Architecture) 
 
 
5.8  Play Spaces/Sports and Leisure Facilities 
 
The Council’s Open Space Strategy sets out play access standards for new development. All house and flats 
should have access to at least one of the following: -  
 

• Good play value – within 800 metres walking distance  
• Very good play value – within 1200 metres walking distance 
• Excellent play value – within 2000 metres walking distance 

 
A skatepark and Multi-Use Games Areas (MUGA) shall be provided. These should be located where it is easily 
accessible by walking, wheeling, cycling or public transport and within reasonable walking distance of a local 
centre. There should also be sports pitches/ courts and indoor leisure facilities that are available to schools and 
community.  

 
 
 
Discussion Points 
 

• Do you think the WEPF provides enough open space, play and recreational facilities for a future 
community of this size? 
 

• Is the open space, play and recreational facilities sufficiently distributed across the WEPF area - is there 
equitable access for everyone who will live there? 
 

• Does the hierarchy of open space, play and recreational facilities indicated facilitate all the areas of 
activity that people living and working here might need? 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All Open Space within WEPF area should seek to: -  
 

- Interconnect with other parks, the wider Strategic Green Blue Network as part of an overall 
landscape framework, including green streets. 

 
- Provide clear visual and actual connec�ons with the wider green network for pedestrians and 

cyclists, with parks being accessible for all users from mul�ple points and direc�ons so access 
can be achieved from each of their main boundaries. 

 
- Create spaces of dis�nct and different characters, especially in larger parks to provide a range 

of different needs and experiences and func�ons to meet varying needs and preferences. 
 

- Create places with poten�al for high biodiversity value recognising the need for species 
diversity due to climate change and the nature emergency. 

 
- Incorporate areas for the integra�on of sustainable urban drainage (SUDS) to enhance amenity 

and biodiversity and a place for exceedance flows and high intensity rainfall events.   
 
 
 
 

Green streets should have a width of 33 - 38 metres to incorporate trees, SUDS, active travel, 
footways and privacy thresholds to buildings with 10 metres of this incorporating a linear park zone 
and can comprise a series of pocket parks offering quiet areas, safe spaces, public gardens, street 
trees, sculpture and play space. 
 

P
age 70



27 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 12: Parks and Play Facili�es 

  

P
age 71



28 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

6.0 Strategic Connec�ons, Access and Movement, Parking 
 
6.1 Transport Strategy 
 
Transport interventions to support the proposed levels of development have been extensively considered as part 
of the West Edinburgh Transport Appraisal refresh (WETA) Study 2016 and Transport Appraisal prepared as part 
of City Plan 2030.  

The WETA (West Edinburgh Transport Appraisal) Refresh Study (approved December 2016) considered planned 
developments in the West and projected airport growth. The transport mi�ga�on measures iden�fied informed 
the interven�ons iden�fied in the LDP Ac�on Programme to support site delivery. A key transport ac�on of the 
Study is the provision of a Gogar Link Road. Feasibility and op�ons for this route were intended to improve 
network resilience to Edinburgh Airport and open-up development opportuni�es in West Edinburgh.  

Development must fully acknowledge and adopt the transport hierarchy of the Na�onal Transport Strategy, 
Na�onal Planning Framework 4, City Mobility Plan and City Plan 2030 to ensure that West Edinburgh is successful 
as a place by minimising private car movements for all journey types, especially short, local ones. Our decisions 
on how to get from A to B are influenced by how we choose to move, including availability and quality of 
infrastructure, cost, journey �me, safety, personal ability and convenience. Targets to reduce car kilometres 
na�onally by 20% and in Edinburgh by 30% should be seen as a star�ng point and be exceeded wherever possible 
to contribute mee�ng net zero targets.  

City Plan Place Policy 16, West Edinburgh, requires this approach for development with a focus away from 
individual car ownership towards ac�ve travel, high speed public transport, including tram, and mobility hubs. 
Movement proposals for sites in West Edinburgh must support this. 

Reducing the need to travel: Development should ensure that as many appropriate services as possible are 
provided within West Edinburgh, delivering the 20-minute neighbourhood concept and therefore reducing the 
need to travel elsewhere.  

Integra�on: All proposed ac�ve travel, public transport and road improvement measures must support the 
delivery and integra�on of the infrastructure emerging from the West Edinburgh Transport Improvement 
Programme study (WETIP). Infrastructure emerging from WETIP relates to the A89/A8 corridor. Key infrastructure 
improvements within the WEPF area shall be carried out by developers or secured through suitable condi�ons or 
legal agreements.  

WEPF advocates a series of Strategic Connec�ons, both to maximise connec�vity through the area and to 
establish linkages to the wider city beyond (Figure 13: Strategic Connections). 
 
It is a key requirement that the sites within the WEPF area all connect together to create a single ‘place’. 
Connec�vity between the sites is essen�al. 
 
  
6.2 Access 

Strategic access into the WEPF area should be from Gogar roundabout, Eas�ield Road and poten�ally the A8 
subject to assessment. City Plan’s provision for local access from the A8 would also provide op�ons for opening 
up sites should the full strategic network not be available, for example if some sites are delayed in commencing.   

Key loca�ons for a series of ‘at grade’ signalised crossings over the A8 should provide effec�ve linkages with 
areas to the south including Redheughs Village and Edinburgh Park. Measures to ‘calm’ the A8 should be 
inves�gated including reducing the speed limit to 30 mph.   

 
6.3 Strategic East-West Routes 
 
WEPF seeks to promote two east-west transport corridors including a ‘Gogar Link Road’ linking Eastfield Road 
with Edinburgh Gateway, with a second corridor serving the northern part of the WEPF area via Crosswinds.    

However, physical constraints posed by ownerships, the presence of natural and heritage assets including the 
exis�ng channel of the Gogar Burn and the Castle Gogar Estate have a significant bearing on where such east-
west routes can be placed. The dra� WEPF has considered the feasibility of various poten�al route alignments 
and has iden�fied op�mal loca�ons to where such routes would need to be located. The alignments iden�fied 
would seek to minimise impact to heritage assets while promo�ng solu�ons which would achieve broader 
transport and development objec�ves and ensure sensi�vity to environment and place. 
 

6.4 North- South Routes – Gogar Mains Road  

Preferred loca�ons for new north-south primary and secondary routes must consider safe connec�ons across the 
tram corridor along with all the factors listed above. 

Gogar Mains Road will be retained and modified as a secondary north-south route linking residen�al areas across 
the tramline.  

 

6.5 Northern Link  

To ensure good public transport connec�vity, a public transport route should be established over the railway at 
the north-east part of the site. This may be achievable over the exis�ng railway bridge on Turnhouse Road or it 
will require a new bridge spanning the Edinburgh-Fife railway. 

 

6.6 Airport Access Route 

There is an option for a potential Airport access route which would include public transport; this is shown as 
being accessed off Gogar Roundabout/ Myreton Drive and running along the railway line as indicated on the 
Masterplan map. This route would be considered in terms of broader transport requirements in the wider West 
Edinburgh and City context.   

 
6.7 Public Transport 
 
West Edinburgh has a baseline of public transport infrastructure – most notably Edinburgh Tram Line 1, 
Edinburgh Gateway Intermodal Sta�on, Edinburgh Park rail sta�on and Ingliston Park & Ride facility. Exis�ng bus 
routes also pass through the area and services are focused on the Airport, the A8 Corridor and West Lothian. 
However, strategic access and movement beyond the framework area is constrained by edges including dual 
carriageways, railways, and land uses with limited public access. Access to adjacent areas of the city, par�cularly 
Maybury and West Craigs to the north-east is restricted by: 

• Limited pedestrian connec�ons between the site and surrounding area. 

P
age 72



29 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

• Proximity of ac�ve travel routes to heavy traffic and lack of con�nuity due to a fragmented network. 

Addi�onal capacity for public transport, principally buses, will be required to support the development of the 
WEPF area and complement the exis�ng tram route, thus ensuring effec�ve public transport connec�vity to the 
rest of the city and seeking to establish sustainable travel habits from the outset of development. 
 
Core Bus Routes through the WEPF area would be focussed upon a strategic east-west Corridor, with northern 
and southern spurs leading from Eas�ield Road to the west. This should be further supplemented by a bus route 
based around a northern east-west Access and offering a Northern Link over the railway to support delivery of 
the proposed Core Orbital Bus Route outlined in City Plan  
 
The public transport strategy outlined through WEPF has the poten�al to support and facilitate a range of bus 
services across the Edinburgh City region, including established West Edinburgh communi�es, orbital routes to 
serve north and south Edinburgh and West Lothian (Figure 14: Public Transport Strategy). 
 
6.8 Walking, Wheeling and Cycling 
 
The proposed Green Blue Network shall work in tandem with the proposed vehicular routes. Off-road ac�ve 
travel routes would form part of the Green Blue Network (Figure 15: Walking, Wheeling and Cycling Network). 
 
6.9 Parking Strategy 
 
City Mobility Plan, Policy 36 seeks to limit parking in new development based on current and planned levels of 
walking, wheeling, cycling and public transport access including requirements for electric vehicle charging, 
disabled persons parking places, car club and bike hire space. 
 
WEPF promotes a range of moves to support the delivery of sustainable transport infrastructure and achieve a 
‘low traffic place’ – one where all street spaces will priori�se people and not be dominated by vehicular 
movement including parking requirements. 
 
The effec�ve control of parking, par�cularly to limit car use for short local journeys will be key to realising Local 
Living objec�ves, as outlined in Chapter 7.  
 
Limi�ng the number of car parking spaces is key to delivering key elements of the WEPF. It is proposed that all 
housing development proposals should aspire to a maximum level of 25% provision, e.g. 1 space per 4 residen�al 
units. This would include EV and accessible spaces. For non-residen�al uses, Zone 1 parking standards would 
apply as outlined in the Council’s current Parking Standards. Any provision which exceeds this would need to be 
jus�fied against Net Zero and Transport policies.  
 
This approach would reflect recent prac�ce at Granton Waterfront redevelopment, where car parking has been 
restricted as part of a wider approach to the delivery of sustainable transport measures. 
 
An appropriate level of safe, secure and convenient cycle parking to meet the needs of users which is more 
conveniently located than car parking should be provided.       

In respect of parking strategy, WEPF proposes the following measures: - 
 

- The Council will consider the implementa�on of a Controlled Parking Zone for the WEPF area. 
- Limit on-street parking provision with all spaces subject to adop�on by the Roads Authority. 
- Restrict on-street parking provision to short stay, accessible parking, deliveries and upli�. 
- Promote use of centralised parking facili�es, e.g. mul�storey or low-rise deck parking. 
- Only consider front cur�lage parking in excep�onal circumstances with any ‘in-cur�lage’ parking limited 

to a single space per dwelling including integral garaging. 
- Minimal use of courtyard and deck parking for residen�al and essen�al business users. 
- Appropriate provision of cycle parking in line with current Council guidance. 

 

 
 
6.10 EV Charging Infrastructure 
 
The Council recognises this is a rapidly evolving technological area as we transi�on to electric vehicles. Given the 
�meframe in which the WEPF area will likely be developed, WEPF advocates that all residen�al and essen�al 
business parking spaces should be equipped with electric vehicle charging infrastructure from the outset of 
development, supported by a dense network of public charging infrastructure.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

WEPF advocates that all housing development proposals should aspire to a maximum level of 25% 
provision, e.g. 1 space per 4 residen�al units. This would include EV and accessible spaces. For non-
residen�al uses, Zone 1 parking standards would apply as outlined in the Council’s current Parking 
Standards. Any provision which exceeds this would need to be jus�fied against Net Zero and Transport 
policies.  
 
 

P
age 73



30 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

 

6.11 Key Strategic Transport Interven�ons  

The table below highlights the poten�al key transport interven�ons for the WEPF area as iden�fied in City Plan. 

Interven�on 
 

Descrip�on Relevant City Plan Proposals 

Upgrading (dualling) of Eas�ield Road and 
Dumbbells roundabout improvements 

Upgrading to enhance route capacity of principal vehicular route serving the Airport, whilst improving facili�es for public transport, walking, 
wheeling and cycling through innova�ve street design. Ini�al proposal iden�fied as part of the IBG Phase 1 applica�on (15/05580/PPP) – 
subject to call-in by Sco�sh Ministers. 
 

WE22, WE23, WE24, WE24 
 

Establishing a ‘Main Street’ (Gogar Link 
Road) 

An east-west transport corridor serving the central part of the WEPF area, to link Eas�ield Road with Edinburgh Gateway and the Gogar 
roundabout, this being needed to realise strategic transport objec�ves established through the WETA Refresh Study and City Plan 2030 
Transport Appraisal.   
 
Route could serve as a strategic mul�-modal route with access for general traffic, although may priori�se or be limited to public transport 
and ac�ve travel only.  Route must priori�se direct east-west bus movements through the area supported by an addi�onal public transport 
spur from Dumbbells/ Ingliston to the south-west.  
 
Route should be established within a green se�ng – as per Chapter 4, Green Blue Network with design adop�ng a range of characters along 
its route.  
 
Route would pass close to the Gogar Town Centre, although alignment should seek to minimise impact of through traffic within the Town 
Centre Plaza. 
 
A bridge crossing will be required over the Gogar Burn. Due to physical constraints this should be posi�oned to the south of Castle Gogar 
and the historic bridge. Design of this sec�on must minimise impact to mature trees on the Castle Gogar Estate and se�ng of listed 
buildings. 
 

R4, WE18, WE27, WE28, BGN48 

Establishing a Northern East-West Access A secondary east-west transport corridor serving the northern part of the WEPF area, to link Eas�ield Road with Edinburgh Gateway and the 
Gogar roundabout via Crosswinds. This would complement the ‘Main Street’ (Gogar Link Road) as referred to above. The route has the 
poten�al to provide secondary access from the Airport, including the Airport Freight Terminal. 
 
Street design should facilitate efficient east-west bus movement, with provision for walking/wheeling and general traffic. 
  
Delivery of this route would require an overbridge crossing over the exis�ng Gogar Burn. Due to physical constraints, this should be 
posi�oned between Gogar Mains Farm and the Castle Gogar Estate.   
 

PT1, WE27, BGN48, BGN49  

Northern Link Link forming a connec�on between the north of the WEPF area to Turnhouse Road/Craigs Road and the strategic Green Blue Network. 
 
This would priori�se public transport to facilitate the development of the Core Orbital Bus Corridor (PT1) with provision for walking, 
wheeling and cycling.  
 
Delivery of this route would require either a new overbridge spanning the Edinburgh-Fife railway or it could poten�ally link to the exis�ng 
railway bridge on Turnhouse Road to the north. 
 

PT1, PT6, WE12, BGN48, BGN49 

A new Gogar Tram Stop To be located between exis�ng Ingliston and Gogarburn tram stops, this would be designed as an integral part of the proposed Gogar Town 
Centre Plaza. 
 
Expected that design would u�lise founda�ons and adjacent track crossings installed as part of original tram construc�on. 
 

PT1, WE12, WE30 

P
age 74



31 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Poten�al Addi�onal Access from A8 Poten�al for addi�onal A8 access to assist in reducing speeds on the A8 whilst facilita�ng local access and development delivery. Careful 
considera�on would be given for such addi�onal access against the WEPF objec�ves. 

As shown in Map 24 of City Plan 

Crossing and Calming the A8 Inves�gate measures to strengthen connec�ons beyond the WEPF area including linkages across and measures to ‘calm’ the A8 dual 
carriageway – this suppor�ng the delivery of 20 Minute Neighbourhoods and a Strategic Green Blue Network. Measures may include a 
reduc�on of the speed limit from 40mph to 30mph. A series of ‘at grade crossings over the A8, to support walking, wheeling and cycling in 
the following loca�ons should also be explored: - 

 
• Gogar Sta�on Road – connec�ons to Redheughs Village and Edinburgh Park 
• Gogarstone Road – connec�ons to Ratho Village 
• Maybury junc�on – connec�ons between Turnhouse Road, The Gyle and Edinburgh Park 
• A8 Corridor – connec�ons to Ratho Sta�on, Newbridge and Kirkliston including off-road routes. 

 

WE5, WE6, WE7, WE11, WE31, 
BGN48 

Redheughs Village Poten�al development of a bus and ac�ve travel route through the site and through bus movement to Edinburgh Park. 
  
Explore potential for an ‘at grade’ crossing over the A8 at Gogar Station Road, as outlined above. 
  

PT5, ATPR 49, ATSG5, WE11, 
WE13, BGN48 

Mobility Hubs Seek to establish Mobility Hubs at principal arrival points to the area including Gogar Town Centre, Edinburgh Gateway and Ingliston. These 
should be developed in conjunc�on with the Council and service providers. 
 

WE39, WE40 

 
 

 
  

P
age 75



32 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

 

Discussion Points 
 
WEPF and the Strategic Masterplan is based on Map 24 within Place 16 of City Plan; and sets out the 
parameters of the strategic connections, access, movement and parking strategy for the WEPF area.   
 
Do you support the approach for the following areas? 

 
• Strategic Connections. 
• Public Transport Strategy. 
• Walking, wheeling and cycling network. 
• Potential vehicular access points and hierarchy of streets. 
• Parking levels and approach. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Key Transport Requirements 
 

• Accord with the Sustainable Travel Hierarchy which seeks to promote walking, wheeling, cycling and public 
transport over private car use. 

 
• Facilitate the delivery of a connected hierarchy of routes which support a safe, high-quality environment for 

walking, wheeling and cycling and seek to maximise sustainable travel opportuni�es to local facili�es. 
 

• Promote opportuni�es for off-road movement via the Green Blue Network to offer atrac�ve routes for strategic 
ac�ve travel and informal recrea�on. 

 
• Facilitate public access and linkages beyond the peripheries of the WEPF area which address barriers to 

movement currently presented by physical edges. Strategic connec�ons should seek to ensure effec�ve 
integra�on with the wider city and established West Edinburgh communi�es, e.g. West Craigs, Maybury, 
Turnhouse, Ratho Sta�on, Ratho Village, Newbridge and Kirkliston 

 
• Priori�se the delivery of an East-West ‘Main Street’ (also referred to as the Gogar Link Road’) with direct rou�ng 

to link Eas�ield Road to Edinburgh Gateway and the Gogar roundabout. This route should pass close to the 
proposed Gogar Town Centre.   

 
• Facilitate bus movement through the WEPF area, par�cularly via the strategic east-west routes to complement 

the established tram route and promote a range of bus services across the Edinburgh City region, including 
established West Edinburgh communi�es, orbital routes to serve north and south Edinburgh and West Lothian. 

 
• All proposed ac�ve travel, public transport and road improvement measures must support the delivery and 

integra�on of infrastructure emerging from the Council’s West Edinburgh Transport Improvement Programme 
(WETIP). 

 
• Seek to establish Mobility Hubs at principal arrival points to the area including Gogar Town Centre, Edinburgh 

Gateway and Ingliston. These should be developed in conjunc�on with the Council and service providers. 
 

• All development should aspire to a maximum level of 25% parking provision. For non-residen�al uses, Zone 1 
parking standards would apply as outlined in the Council’s current Parking Standards. The design of car parking 
should seek to minimise car use and minimise the visual impact of vehicles within the street scene. 
 

• Initial development should be built within a 5-minute walk (400 metres) of a tram stop or operational bus route 
(whichever is the closer) and strategic active travel routes.  

 
• Consider the integra�on of the exis�ng Ingliston Park & Ride facility.  

 
• Consider a comprehensive wayfinding strategy for the wider area. 

 

P
age 76



33 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 13: Strategic Connec�ons 
 

 

 
  

P
age 77



34 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 14: Public Transport Strategy
 

P
age 78



35 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 
 

Figure 15: Walking, Wheeling and Cycling Network 
 

  

P
age 79



36 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

7.0 Living Well Locally: Delivering 20-Minute Neighbourhoods 
 
The 20 Minute Neighbourhood concept and the no�on of ‘living well locally’ form a central component of WEPF. 
 
The Sco�sh Government define 20-Minute Neighbourhoods as a ‘flexible approach to assessing our places 
against the concept of local living. A method of achieving connected and often compact neighbourhoods 
designed in such a way that people can meet the majority of their daily needs within a reasonable distance of 
their home preferably by sustainable and active travel methods. The principle can be adjusted to include varying 
geographical scales from cities and urban environments, to rural and island communities. Housing would be 
planned together with local infrastructure including schools, community centres, local shops and health and 
social care to significantly reduce the need to use unsustainable methods of travel, to prioritise quality of life, 
help tackle inequalities, increase levels of health and wellbeing and respond to the climate emergency’. 
 
The Council is currently working in partnership with local communi�es across Edinburgh to create a network of 
healthier, greener and thriving neighbourhoods where everyone can meet their daily needs within a short 
distance of the home. 
 
The Council’s 20-Minute Neighbourhood programme is seeking to influence a range of projects and ini�a�ves to 
including approaches to master planning and strategic development projects promoted through City Plan 2030, 
the most significant of these being West Edinburgh. 
 
An Edinburgh 20-Minute Neighbourhood Spa�al Tool has recently been developed by Ramboll and the City of 
Edinburgh Council. 

The majority of the West Edinburgh area currently func�ons poorly in terms of 20-Minute Neighbourhood 
principles scoring <30%. West Edinburgh currently represents a largely transitory area at the periphery of the city 
with limited residen�al popula�on and few facili�es to support new communi�es. Local facili�es are largely 
concentrated within the established urban area of the city and outlying villages thereby necessita�ng travel to 
use essen�al services. 

The WEPF area is heavily contained by established edges including dual carriageways, the railway and uses/ 
ownerships with secure or limited access including Edinburgh Airport and RBS Gogarburn. These limit 
opportuni�es to easily connect with adjacent areas of the city. 

In order to achieve successful 20-Minute Neighbourhoods, careful considera�on must be given to crea�ng a 
network of local centres, achieving a suitable mix of uses and establishing local and strategic connec�ons. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7.1 A Network of Local Centres 
 
It is envisaged that each local centre should comprise the following: - 
 

• Gogar Town Centre – A well connected, centrally located Plaza forming a major civic des�na�on and 
community hub within West Edinburgh. This would be focussed upon the green routes/corridors and 
ac�ve travel intersec�ons and the proposed tram stop with principal east-west bus routes located in the 
vicinity. Poten�al to incorporate a Mobility Hub. 

 
• Ingliston Local Centre – A bustling urban square focussed on the green routes/corridors and ac�ve travel 

intersec�ons and the Ingliston tram stop, characterised by strong urban forms, ac�ve streets and green 
routes/corridors.   This area would be dis�nct from the Gogar Town Centre, located 650 metres to the 
east. Poten�al to create a Mobility Hub. 

 
• North Eastern Local Centre – A Green Street linking a proposed Gogar Burn Park accessible via the green 

network with framed views to Castle Gogar and poten�al connec�on over the railway to West 
Craigs/Maybury. This area would be dis�nct from the Edinburgh Gateway Local Centre situated 750 
metres to the south-east. 

 
• Edinburgh Gateway Local Centre – A bold civic gateway into West Edinburgh accessed via the green 

network and focussed upon an established rail/tram hub, providing connec�ons to the city centre and 
the wider region. A new urban plaza would be formed to the north of the exis�ng sta�on offering a focus 
for commercial and leisure development. Poten�al to incorporate a Mobility Hub. 

 
• Outwith the WEPF area, Redheughs Village Local Centre – A modest local centre serving the immediate 

community.  
 
Ground floor uses within the town and local centres should comprise ac�ve frontages offering a mix of retail, 
mul�-func�onal business space with opportuni�es for community-based ac�vi�es. Each town centre should be 
of high-quality public realm and incorporate dis�nc�ve/placemaking public art. 
 

 
 
 
 

WEPF advocates a network of local centres across the wider West Edinburgh area: 
 

• Ingliston Local Centre 
• Gogar Town Centre 
• North Eastern Local Centre 
• Edinburgh Gateway Local Centre 
• Redheughs Village Local Centre 

 
These would be strategically located within new neighbourhoods, contribute towards a dis�nc�ve sense 
of place and create opportuni�es for localised services, employment and community facili�es. Each 
would be based around a tram stop or principal bus route. 
 

P
age 80



37 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

 
7.2 A Mix of Uses 
 
City Plan, Place Policy 16 outlines: - ‘A mix of uses focused around tram stops, with a par�cular focus within the 
land known as Edinburgh 205 (H63) as town centre development as town centre development with civic space, 
community facili�es, commercial and leisure uses as a focal point of a new 20-minute neighbourhood.’ 
  
7.3 Residen�al Uses (Use Classes 8, 9, Sui Generis – Flated development) 
 
The delivery of residen�al uses must be approached as part of a mixed-use development primarily based upon a 
high and medium density model, which achieves a ver�cal mix of uses to integrate residen�al with business and 
employment. 
 
This approach will be cri�cal in achieving a vibrant, diverse place and to reinforce the no�on of ‘living well locally’ 
mee�ng the daily needs of local communi�es, offering a highly liveable environment which seeks to combine 
opportuni�es for live work and leisure. 
 
Development should seek to promote a range of housing op�ons and tenures, to create housing diversity and a 
mixed community with the ability to age in place. 
 
To support City Plan objec�ves, par�cular focus will be placed on City Plan sites H59, H60, H61, H62, H63, IBG 
Phase 1 and Redheughs Village. All proposals must seek to adopt a strategic approach to phasing and delivery of 
infrastructure.  
 
7.4 Retail, Business and Commercial Floorspace (Use Classes 1a, 3, 4, 7) 
 
The delivery of retail floorspace must address relevant Development Plan policies and be focussed within 
proposed town and local centres. However, the development of such uses should be approached organically to 
allow for the delivery of a range of unit and floorspace types with a focus on units suitable for a range of smaller, 
independent businesses.  
 
It is expected that the principal focus of town and local centres is likely to be towards Class 1a (Shops, and 
financial, professional and other services), Class 3 (Food & drink) and Class 4 (Business uses); these should be 
ver�cally integrated as part of mixed-use development. These areas may also present opportuni�es for the 
development of office, studio and workshop spaces at street level; offering the poten�al to support crea�ve 
industries, low key manufacturing processes and storage/distribu�on if compa�ble with adjacent residen�al 
proper�es.   
 
7.5 Industrial Uses (Use Classes 5, 6)  

These would include general industrial and storage and distribution uses and given the nature and range of 
activities/operations permitted, such uses are likely to require physical separation from nearby residential uses. 

It is expected that such uses would be concentrated in the Airport Buffer defining the northern edge of the 
WEPF area. It is also intended this area would provide separation with the Airport offering potential for green 
blue infrastructure, SUDS, flood attenuation, open space, playing fields and green blue infrastructure. 

 

 

 
 
7.6 Educa�on, Community facili�es (Use Classes 10, 11) 
 
Development must seek to deliver suitable educa�onal infrastructure which will support the daily needs of the 
community including primary schools, a West Edinburgh High School and other facili�es offering nursery/early 
years provision and lifelong learning opportuni�es. 
 
An Educa�onal Appraisal was undertaken to inform City Plan and the educa�onal requirements which are set out 
in City Plan. The WEPF now proposes a single 1800 pupil secondary school which would serve the community. 
The WEPF uses this as a baseline as illustrated in the Masterplan map (Figure 17/18).  
 
WEPF also looks at an op�on for a reduced number of larger primary schools. Both op�ons strongly follow the 
principles of delivering 20-minute neighbourhoods by ensuring all schools are located immediately adjacent to 
generous greenspace, play facili�es and Mul�-Use Games Areas (MUGAs) (Figure 16: Alternative Schools Layout). 
 
Schools shall be co-located with community facili�es to form community hubs to support the development of 20-
Minute Neighbourhoods. Such facili�es could include health and social care, lifelong learning, sports pitches/ 
courts, indoor leisure facili�es, cultural venues and workspace.  
 
The delivery of flexible spaces to support community ac�vi�es should be provided.  
 
7.7 Health Care Provision 
 
In line with the City Plan requirements, health care provision will be required and the necessary spaces 
iden�fied. The nature and extent of this is to be finalised, however, it shall be of a level necessary to fully serve 
the required communi�es.  
 
7.8 Edinburgh Airport 
 
It is expected that the lands occupying the northern part of the WEPF area will remain closely associated with 
the opera�on of Edinburgh Airport, although the Proposed City Plan and WEPF also recognise the importance of 
this area in delivering strategic connec�ons and suppor�ng the development of the strategic Green Blue 
Network. 
 
This area could poten�ally support business and ac�vi�es closely related to the opera�on of the Airport 
including Class 5 (Storage and distribu�on), Class 6 (General industrial) and Class 4 (Business). The physical 
separa�on of such uses from residen�al could be achieved through Green Blue infrastructure.  
 

P
age 81



38 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Discussion Points 
 

• Do you support the proposed network and locations of town and local centre areas as indicated in the 
WEPF? 
 

• Do you support the creation of a civic destination within the Gogar Town Centre? 
 

• Do you support the proposed mix of uses? What other uses, services or amenities do you think should be 
located within the WEPF area? 
 

• Do you support either of the school/education options outlined in WEPF; or are there any other feasible 
options?  
 

 

 

Image: Collective Architecture 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WEPF proposes that development will contribute to local living through the delivery of a 
cohesive network on interconnected 20-Minute Neighbourhoods, with an emphasis on 
mee�ng the needs of local communi�es that are necessary to create liveable and sustainable 
places. 

This should be achieved by: - 

• Placing infrastructure at the heart of placemaking adop�ng a coordinated approach to 
the delivery of strategic infrastructure to support the development of connected 
sustainable communi�es from the outset. 
 

• Facilita�ng the delivery of strategic connec�ons beyond the WEPF area to ensure its 
effec�ve integra�on with the wider city and established West Edinburgh communi�es, 
e.g. Maybury, Turnhouse, Ratho Sta�on, Ratho Village, Newbridge and Kirkliston. 

 
• Promo�ng sustainable travel opportuni�es via the strategic Green Blue network to offer 

safe, effec�ve and pleasant access to local facili�es, public transport, employment and 
countryside recrea�on. 

 
• Promo�ng a network of town and local centres based around transport hubs. 

 
• Achieving a blend of uses which integrate residen�al with business and employment 

spaces with an emphasis on ver�cal mix, rather than horizontal separa�on. 
 

• Promo�ng a range of housing op�ons and tenures, to create housing diversity, a mixed 
community and ability to age in place. 

 
• Delivering suitable educa�onal infrastructure which supports the daily needs of local 

communi�es including primary schools, a West Edinburgh High School and other 
facili�es offering childcare and lifelong learning opportuni�es. 

 
• Establishing a civic des�na�on within the Gogar Town Centre for the WEPF and poten�al 

wider West Edinburgh area.  
 

• Incorpora�ng small or medium sized food store within the Town Centre and each of the 
local centres. These should be integrated as part of a mixed-use block to support the 
development of place and new 20-Minute Neighbourhoods. 

 
• Delivering a range of publicly accessible open space, play space and recrea�on facili�es 

as outlined in Chapter 5, Strategic Open Space, Play and Recrea�on.  
 

P
age 82



39 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 16: Alterna�ve Schools Layout 

 
 

P
age 83



40 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

8.0  Crea�ng a Dis�nc�ve Place 

The WEPF Consulta�on Dra� iden�fies a series of key design moves, these seeking to develop the new West 
Edinburgh vision and principles outlined in Proposed City Plan, Place Policy 16.   
 
The new vision is for West Edinburgh to become a vibrant, high-density, mixed-use extension to the city with a 
focus on placemaking, sustainability, connec�vity, biodiversity and a strong landscape framework. 
 
The consultant design team has worked collabora�vely with the Council to develop a high level, strategic 
placemaking approach and establish a series of design parameters.  These would provide a founda�on for West 
Edinburgh to emerge as both a unique, dis�nc�ve place and an exemplar of urban sustainable living. 
 
The approach has been underpinned by detailed analysis of the WEPF area and wider West Edinburgh context, 
this ar�culated as part of Chapter 2. 
 
The various themes considered as part of the WEPF Consulta�on Dra� have been considered holis�cally, with 
layers bought together to form the dra� West Edinburgh Strategic Masterplan, presented in Chapter 9. 
 
 
8.1 Character Areas 
 
WEPF iden�fies a network of proposed Character Areas. These have been developed as a response to the overall 
scale of the WEPF area to inform the strategic masterplan approach and establish a series of dis�nct 
neighbourhoods.    
 
The proposed network of Character Areas and have sought to interface with the wider urban context, exis�ng 
local facili�es, adjacent neighbourhoods and areas of established urban character.   
 
Each Character Area would be inherently rooted in 20-minute neighbourhood principles, underpinned by a 
network of Local Centres as outlined in Chapter 7, Living Well Locally. 
 
Place Policy 16 highlights the importance of using contemporary design to reinforce the image of Edinburgh as a 
modern prosperous city whilst integra�ng the posi�ve characteris�cs of the city’s townscape, roofscape and 
spa�al character to create a sense of place. 
 
To address this requirement, the various Character Areas and proposed design parameters have sought to 
respond to landscape and heritage features whilst advoca�ng a strong iden�ty and their own unique sense of 
place. It is expected that new buildings within each Character Area would share a common design language to 
provide coherence and be aligned to the overarching principles presented through WEPF. 
 

 
Indicative Character Areas (Collective Architecture) 
 
 
8.2 Urban Structure, Key Frontages 
 
The WEPF approach is defined by strong urban principles. 
 
Development should be based around urban perimeter blocks, to create an appropriate urban character and high 
densi�es within a strong landscape se�ng. This must be supported by a clearly defined hierarchy of streets and 
open spaces, these being cri�cal to establishing the iden�ty of a place, also greatly influencing the way in space 
can be used by people.  
 
WEPF seeks to promote a Hierarchy of Frontages with dis�nct approaches to primary and secondary frontages: - 
 

- Primary frontages should respond to key urban anchors such as large greenspaces and key ac�ve travel 
routes. They should respond to their character area and address streets appropriately. Where necessary, 
a small privacy buffer and appropriate demarca�on should be provided at ground floor level. 

 
- Secondary frontages should address the local streets and be dis�nct from primary frontages. Private 

threshold spaces, such as garden or terrace should be incorporated for residen�al uses. All residen�al 
proper�es should feature a principal entrance opening to the street.    

 
- Ac�ve ground floor uses and principal living areas should be clearly ar�culated on building facades to 

generate ac�vity to the street. 
 

- All street frontages must provide a clear delinea�on between public and private areas. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 84



41 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

 
 
8.3 Density, Heights and Massing 
 
The West Edinburgh Views Study, Visual Appraisal, May 2023, prepared by the consultant design team has closely 
informed the approach which has been outlined in rela�on to heights and massing. This study has considered the 
visual impact of a range of heights and impacts on key long-distance views that have poten�al to be changed 
through the introduc�on of new buildings in the WEPF area.  
 
It is recommended that the following issues should be reflected in finalised WEPF guidance: - 
 

- Density, heights and massing should ensure that development across the WEPF area has an urban feel, 
pleasant streets and people centred spaces. 

 
- All development would be expected to achieve a range of heights.  Building heights should vary across 

each block in response to sloping topography, character areas, uses, key views and gateways. The 
development of an en�re block to a consistent height should be avoided. 
 

- Heights should vary along individual frontages to create varied roofscape that op�mises views and 
daylight.  
 

- Increased heights and massing should be focussed on local centres, key gateways and strategic routes.  
 

- ‘Accents’ may be used to create dis�nc�ve townscape at visually prominent loca�on. These could be 
expressed through a localised increase in heights and architectural detailing. 
 

- A downward massing should be considered at the edges of the WEPF area, par�cularly where interfacing 
with established development of a lower scale.  

 
- Building heights and massing should carefully consider the rela�onship to adjacent streets and spaces, 

par�cularly in respect of daylight, sunlight and micro-climate to maximise human comfort and wellbeing. 
 

- Taller buildings may require visual mi�ga�on to ensure effec�ve integra�on into the landscape se�ng of 
the city. Measures may include the use of darker, non-reflec�ve finishes. 

 
8.4 Roofscape 
 
The proximity of Edinburgh Airport to the WEPF area and the need to consider airport bird strike management 
restric�ons will require a carefully considered approach rela�ng to roof design.  
 
Ini�al discussions have taken place with the Airport Safeguarding Team during the prepara�on of WEPF. In order 
mi�gate concerns rela�ng to roos�ng birds, the Airport has recommended a general presump�on against the use 
of flat roofs and green roofs. 
 
Airport bird strike hazard management restric�ons presented by Edinburgh Airport will require a carefully 
considered approach to roof design across the WEPF area. There is a requirement to create an interes�ng and 
varied roofscape that ensures aerodrome safety. As such this will have a bearing on the height, form, massing, 
architectural detail, and overall character of development.  
 
8.5 Housing Typologies 
 
The development of the WEPF area should seek to promote a range of housing typologies and tenures, to create 
housing diversity. Approaches to housing delivery should seek to address NPF 4 Policy 16, Quality Homes and 
various City Plan housing policy requirements including the need to create mixed communi�es and deliver 
affordable housing.  
 
WEPF requires at least 35% affordable housing – this should be tenure blind and include a representa�ve mix 
of housing types and sizes. The Affordable Housing guidance sets out aspira�ons for 70% of affordable housing 
to be social rent, the highest priority tenure. 
 
 
Housing mix should respond to differing needs to residents, including families, older people and those with 
special needs. Design approaches should also take cognisance of immediate site context and citywide housing 
policy objec�ves.   
 
The delivery of residen�al uses must be approached as part of a mixed-use development based upon a high and 
medium density model outlined in City Plan Place Policy 16, which achieves a ver�cal mix of uses to integrate 
residen�al with business and employment. 

WEPF advocates a varied approach to heights and massing to reinforce a sense of iden�ty and place. These 
are based around the proposed network of Character Areas and Local Centres, also responding to the 
context of the WEPF area in order to achieve a diversity of typology, character and place.   

2-4 storeys – Areas of lower rise development, these acknowledging heritage and landscape issues 
and particular site conditions but also capable of achieving medium to high density residential.  This 
scale of development would also be suitable for commercial and industrial uses. 

3-5 storeys – A medium scale of development broadly comparable to a tradi�onal Edinburgh 
tenemental scale. This would provide an opportunity for high density development and the 
integra�on of mixed uses.   

 
4-8 storeys – Opportunity for larger, high density residen�al, mixed use or commercial blocks. This 
scale of development would primarily be focussed on the proposed town and local centres, also 
reflec�ng parameters ar�culated as part of the IBG Phase 1 master planning.    

 
Addi�onally, there may be opportuni�es to explore height and ‘accents’ at key loca�ons and gateways where 
this could contribute to posi�ve placemaking. 
 
It is considered that the range of heights and typologies iden�fied through WEPF could support a high-
density model of development, whilst acknowledging broader considera�ons in respect of context. 
Importantly, this would also achieve a spa�al character and scale of development which is quintessen�ally 
Edinburgh.  
 

P
age 85



42 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

 
 
8.6 Residen�al Amenity  
 
City Plan Place Policy 16 outlines an itera�ve process to ensure building height and mass respond well to site 
context, topography and micro-climate. 
 
To provide future residents with high levels of amenity, considera�on should be given to following issues:  
 

• The si�ng and design of built form, streets and open spaces should be carefully planned in respect of 
micro-climate and orienta�on and seek to maximise sunlight and daylight whilst minimising 
overshadowing from surrounding urban form.  
 

• Housing typologies should avoid single-aspect homes and seek to maximise opportuni�es for natural 
ven�la�on, light and social interac�on between neighbours. 

 
• All housing should provide residents with private or shared amenity space with clearly defined 

boundaries between public and private space. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Discussion Points 
 
The WEPF outlines a high level, strategic placemaking approach and establishes a series of design parameters.  
These would provide a foundation for West Edinburgh to emerge as both a unique, distinctive place and an 
exemplar of urban, sustainable living. 
 

• What are your views on the following:  
 

- Character areas 
- Urban structure/ Key frontages 
- Density, heights and massing 
- Roofscape 
- Housing typologies/ Housing mix 
- Residential amenity 
- Character of the A8 including scale and location of development  

 
• Are there any other additional design issues you think should be addressed? 

 
• What place name do you think should be given to this area? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WEPF advocates the following housing typologies, to achieve a high and medium density model, being 
closely informed by the proposed network of Character Areas, Local Centres, site context and citywide 
housing policy objec�ves: -  
 

• Townhouses, terraced or colony style housing, low rise flated blocks, specialist living accommoda�on. 
• Medium rise flated blocks generally comparable to a tradi�onal Edinburgh tenemental scale, with 

opportuni�es for the ver�cal integra�on of mixed uses. 
• Larger flated blocks, which could also present opportuni�es for the ver�cal integra�on of mixed uses 

including commercial office or hotel accommoda�on. 
 
 
 

WEPF advocates a strategic approach to placemaking. Development should achieve an urban form and 
spa�al character in keeping with Edinburgh’s prevailing urban character, this being informed through a series 
of high-level design parameters and design guidance.  
 
This would seek to address the following issues, being further developed following the outcome of 
consulta�on and engagement: - 
 

- A Network of Character Areas and Local Centres 
- Urban Structure including streets and open spaces 
- Building Heights and Massing  
- Roofscape 
- Housing typologies 
- Residen�al amenity 
- Public art provision 

 
The most current Edinburgh Design Guidance should also be used to develop and inform proposals.   
 

P
age 86



43 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

9.0  Figure 17: Dra� Strategic Masterplan 
 
The Strategic Masterplan seeks to bring together the various layers of place, as explored through the Dra� 
Framework to ar�culate a new, bold urban vision for West Edinburgh.  
 

 

P
age 87



44 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

Figure 18: Dra� Strategic Masterplan (Extract) 

 

   

P
age 88



45 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

10.0  Infrastructure First, Delivery and Phasing 
 
The successful implementation of the vision for West Edinburgh set out in WEPF will take many years of 
coordinated effort between all parties.  

The early provision of infrastructure will be play an important role to the placemaking and development with 
coordinated delivery being key to a cohesive, well-connected place and series of interconnected 20-Minute 
Neighbourhoods. 

NPF4 Policy 18, Infrastructure First, seeks to encourage, promote and facilitate an infrastructure first approach to 
land use planning and to place infrastructure, services and facili�es that are necessary to create liveable and 
sustainable places and meet the needs of communi�es. 
 
The largely undeveloped nature of the WEPF area presently contains limited infrastructure to support 
development. A coordinated and comprehensive approach will need to be taken to the funding and delivery of 
strategic infrastructure including: -  
 

• Transport 
• Green Blue infrastructure including Open Space, SUDS and the Gogar Burn 
• Education 
• Community facilities including health care 

 
Infrastructure will be funded both directly through development, utilising developer contributions and/or public 
funding where this is required.    
 
10.1 Transport 

The City Plan Transport Assessment (TA) considers interven�ons, mi�ga�on and new infrastructure to support 
the levels of development proposed in West Edinburgh reflec�ng the WETA work and WETIP (West Edinburgh 
Transport Improvement Programme). As well as commited funding through City Deal, a cumula�ve Transport 
Contribu�ons Zone will be applied to address area wide transport interven�ons iden�fied through the TA. 
Cumula�ve impacts will be secured by suitable condi�ons or legal agreements.  

Strategic transport infrastructure including streets and public realm will be crucial to the delivery of 20-Minute 
Neighbourhoods and ensuring effective connectivity at early stages of development to establish sustainable 
travel habits, access to local facilities and open space.  

Sustainable transport modes must be prioritised in all development proposals to ensure high levels of 
accessibility from the outset. 

Where transport infrastructure is required because of development and can be delivered by the applicant, this is 
the Council’s preferred option. 

 

 

 

 

 

10.2 Green Blue infrastructure    

The early provision of Green Blue infrastructure will be central in establishing a high-quality context for place 
development.  

Green Blue infrastructure includes all elements of landscaping and open space ranging from public realm, civic 
and green spaces, strategic landscaping and SUDS infrastructure, this to be delivered in accordance with green 
blue infrastructure requirements as outlined in Chapters 4 and 5. 

 

10.3 Gogar Burn Enhancement 

Measures to restore and enhance the Gogar Burn represent a longstanding planning policy aspiration. This 
project represents an integral component of WEPF in the realisation of a strategic Green Blue Network.  

However, it is recognised that this is complex project and will require the cooperation of multiple agencies and 
stakeholder interests. Project scope, detailed design, a delivery mechanism and funding package are still under 
development.  

The current stage of project development does not negate the requirement for other Green Blue infrastructure 
including SUDS to be delivered as part of the surface water management strategy outlined as part of WEPF.    

The future proposed alignment will be subject to safeguard through City Plan. Development proposals, including 
open space and transport, must respond to safeguarding requirements where applicable and not preclude future 
delivery.   

 

10.4 Education 

Proposed City Plan, section 3.60 states that developer contributions are required to deliver education provision 
to support the level of development outlined within West Edinburgh. The educational provision within the WEPF 
area will serve the wider WEPF area.   

The Educa�onal Appraisal suppor�ng City Plan gave rise to Educa�on requirements which are indica�vely 
illustrated on Map 24 of City Plan.  

The final form and extent of Education infrastructure provision is still under consideration by the Council. The 
WEPF shows potential options, and it is intended that the requirements in terms of Education provision will be 
set out in the finalised version of the WEPF and updated Council guidance relating to developer contributions 
and infrastructure delivery.  

 

10.5 Health care 

Proposed City Plan, section 3.61 states that developer contributions to deliver health care provision are required 
to support the level of development outlined within West Edinburgh. Contributions will be applied through a 
cumulative contributions zone on the conclusions of the Council’s Health care Appraisal. 

 
 
 
 

P
age 89



46 
Dra� West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Strategic Masterplan 

10.6 Developer Contribu�ons 
 
Proposals will be required to contribute to infrastructure provision, where relevant and necessary to mi�gate any 
nega�ve addi�onal impact (either on an individual or cumula�ve basis) and where commensurate to the scale of 
development. The Council will normally secure its delivery as part of planning permission using conditions or 
legal agreements. 

A new Ac�on Programme will be prepared by the Council to support City Plan and WEPF objec�ves, this se�ng 
out how infrastructure and growth of the city will be delivered. Where cumula�ve impacts, i.e. arising from more 
than one development, are iden�fied, contribu�ons zone(s) will be established, including rela�ng to transport, 
educa�on, green blue infrastructure and primary health care.   
 
 
10.7 Phasing of Development 

The complexity of this issue and interdependencies between the various landholdings which form the WEPF area 
are recognised by the Council. To address this, it is proposed that the final WEPF will set out how: - 
 

• Applica�on proposals must be supported by site masterplans which match the finalised WEPF and 
phasing plans which illustrate how and when strategic infrastructure is to be delivered. This par�cularly 
relates to how connec�ons between individual landholdings are to be delivered. However, it shall also 
set out how and when other infrastructure such as educa�on and health care is to be delivered.  

 
• Application proposals will be expected to make a clear distinction between strategic infrastructure, i.e. 

that forming the public domain and plot infrastructure, or that which would be privately maintained. A 
mechanism for delivery of infrastructure related to a site must be clearly identified, this forming the 
basis for legal agreements. 

 
• Where necessary, delivery should seek to ensure effec�ve coordina�on between different types of 

infrastructure, e.g. Green Blue and transport. 
 

• The Council will consider using Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) powers should it not be possible to 
secure agreement between par�es in rela�on to the delivery of infrastructure.  

 

  

 

Discussion Points 
 
It is essential that a cohesive, well-connected place with a series of interconnected 20- Minute Neighbourhoods. 
The delivery and phasing will be critical to deliver this ambition and ensure people are able to live well as the area 
is developed. 
 

• We would welcome your thoughts on phasing and delivery; and how this is successfully achieved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The WEPF Consultation Draft advocates that to deliver a cohesive place and network of connected 
neighbourhoods, the initial focus for development should seek to establish the strategic connections, 
infrastructure and the network of town and local centres as identified through WEPF.  

The phasing and delivery of strategic infrastructure must be agreed with the Council, this addressing 
relevant Council policy and guidance, with requirements reflected through legal agreements. 

Application proposals should be supported by Phasing Plans as appropriate to the scale of development. 
These shall seek to adhere to the following: - 

1. All development should be within a 5-minute walk (400 metres) of a tram stop or operational bus route 
(whichever is the closer) and strategic active travel route from the outset of development.  

2. All development should be supported by an operational vehicular connection to a primary access route 
prior to occupation. These would include Eastfield Road, the Gogar Link Road or Northern East-West Access 
Road. 

4. Surface water drainage for each development scheme should be constructed in accordance with the WEPF 
Green Blue infrastructure requirements and SUDS strategy prior to occupation.  

5. All development schemes should include access to useable public open space (as per the WEPF Open Space 
Hierarchy and Council’s agreed Open Space Strategy) prior to the occupation of development.  

6. Common landscape and public realm, including street infrastructure immediately adjacent to each 
development plot should be completed prior to occupation.  

7. All development should be supported by an operational strategic active travel set within a landscape 
framework prior to occupation.  

 

 

 

 
 
 

P
age 90



 

 
Planning Committee 
 

2.00pm, Wednesday 14 June 2023 

Economic Impact of Residential and Short-term Let 
Properties in Edinburgh 

 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards  All 
Council Commitments  4, 10 

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1     It is recommended that Committee notes:  

1.1.1. That an independent assessment of the economic impact of residential and 
short-term let properties in Edinburgh was commissioned with a final report 
issued in May 2023; and 

1.1.2. That the findings of the report are one source of information that can be 
considered when assessing the economic impacts of short-term let planning 
applications and that given the report is considering generalities rather than 
the specifics of an individual case, it is likely that only limited weight can be 
attached to it as a material consideration when making planning application 
decisions. 

 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: David Givan – Chief Planning Officer and Head of Building Standards 

Email: david.givan@edinburgh.gov.uk  

Page 91

Agenda Item 9.1

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/council-commitments
mailto:david.givan@edinburgh.gov.uk


 

 
Report 
 

Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let 
Properties in Edinburgh 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 The consultancy MKA Economics Ltd was appointed by the Planning Service to 
conduct an independent assessment of the economic impact of various types of 
property in Edinburgh if being used for residential purposes and provide a comparison 
if being used for short-term let purposes. MKA Economics has produced a report on 
the Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh (“the 
Economic Report”) which is contained in Appendix 1.  

2.2 The Economic Report shows that there are positive economic impacts from the use 
of properties for both residential use and short-term let use. The gross value added 
(GVA) effects are greater for residential uses than short-term lets across all property 
types and all areas. 

2.3 The Economic Report is one source of information that can be considered when 
assessing the economic impacts of short-term let planning applications. However, 
given it is considering generalities rather than the specifics of an individual case, it is 
likely that only limited weight can be attached to it as a material consideration when 
making planning application decisions.  

2.4 If further guidance on short-term lets is prepared in accordance with the decision of 
Planning Committee of 19 April 2023, the Economic Report will be used to inform the 
preparation of that guidance.  

3. Background 

3.1 The Council brought into force a Short-term Let Control Area for the whole of the 
Council’s area on 5 September 2022. 

3.2 In the Control Area, a change of use of a dwelling to a short-term let is deemed to be 
a material change of use and therefore requires planning permission where that 
property is not the principal home of the landlord or occupier.  

3.3 When the Control Area came into force the primary Development Plan policy 
governing Short Term Lets was policy Hou 7 in the Council’s Local Development Plan 
(“LDP”).  The Council consulted on amending its planning guidance on short-term lets 

Page 92

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=147&MId=6745&Ver=4


between 29 September 2022 and 22 December 2022. The amended guidance was 
approved on 19 April 2022. This is contained in its Guidance for Businesses. This 
guidance explains in more detail, relative to LDP Hou7, the criteria for determining 
whether to grant planning permission for a change of use to short-term let.  

3.4 The National Planning Framework 4 (NPF4) became part of the Council’s 
development plan on 13 February 2023.  It contains Policy 30 e) on short-term lets 
which states: 

Development proposals for the reuse of existing buildings for short term holiday 
letting will not be supported where the proposal will result in:  

i. An unacceptable impact on local amenity or the character of a neighbourhood or 
area; or  

ii. The loss of residential accommodation where such loss is not outweighed by 
demonstrable local economic benefits. 

3.5 In advance of NPF4 being adopted, the Scottish Government in November 2022 
published a Revised Draft National Planning Framework 4. It contained the same 
policy, 30 e). On the basis of this draft and the likelihood that NPF4 would be become 
part of the Council’s development plan, the Planning Service commissioned MKA 
Economics to provide an independent economic impact assessment of various types 
of property in Edinburgh if being used for residential purposes versus being used for 
short-term let purposes. 

3.6 The consultation on revising the Council’s short-term lets guidance had concluded 
prior to the adoption of NPF4.  NPF4 Policy 30 e) is therefore not currently addressed 
in the Council’s Short-term Lets Guidance. 

3.7 On 19 April 2023, Planning Committee noted that the consultation on the short-term 
lets guidance was issued prior to the coming into force of National Planning 
Framework 4 (NPF4) in February 2023. It also noted that City Plan 2030 is currently 
at examination stage, and is expected to return to Committee in late 2023 or early 
2024; It further noted that the Scottish Government may be issuing guidance shortly 
on the application of NPF4 in respect of short-term lets; It agreed that further guidance 
on the applicability of NPF4 and City Plan to short-term lets is likely to be required, 
and agreed to receive a report setting out options for consulting on further changes 
to guidance once City Plan 2030 has been adopted. 

4. Main report 

4.1 The analysis contained in the Economic Report finds that that the GVA effects are 
greater for residential uses than short-term lets across all property types and all 
areas.  

4.2 Although the Economic Report notes that the employment effects are greater for 
short-term lets in most cases and that although tourism jobs are valuable, they are 
not as valuable in GVA terms as other economic activity in the city.  

4.3 The Economic Report states that all businesses, and the resident population, and 
businesses in the tourism sector are facing significant economic challenges as a 

Page 93

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/27027/for-businesses
https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategy-plan/2023/02/national-planning-framework-4/documents/national-planning-framework-4-revised-draft/national-planning-framework-4-revised-draft/govscot%3Adocument/national-planning-framework-4.pdf


result of the ongoing cost of living crisis, and the results it presents will continue to 
change throughout 2023 and beyond. 

4.4 Care needs to be taken with how the Economic Report is used. It is one source of 
information that can be considered when assessing the economic impacts of short-
term let planning applications. In respect of the NPF4 policy that the change of use 
of residential accommodation for short-term lets should only be supported where this 
is outweighed by “demonstrable local economic benefits”, the Economic Report 
indicates that the conversion of residential accommodation would, generally, be 
expected to result in a loss of GVA, i.e. economic disbenefits. Given it is considering 
generalities rather than the specifics of an individual case, it is likely that only limited 
weight can be attached to it as a material consideration when making planning 
application decisions. Each planning application requires to be considered on its own 
merits. Applicants may be able to provide evidence that specific changes of use will 
deliver demonstrable economic benefits. The economic impacts are likely to vary 
depending upon the specifics of the property in question coupled with the overall tone 
of the market. For example, one aspect of the report is that it makes assumptions on 
occupancy rates. If the number of short-term lets in Edinburgh reduces, there may be 
potential that occupancy rates could increase. This could potentially increase the 
economic impact of an average short-term let.   

4.5 The Economic Report is likely to be of relevance if and when the Council prepares 
draft revised guidance on short-term lets to address NPF4 Policy 30 e), however it 
would still just be one source of information in formulating the revised guidance.  Any 
such revised draft guidance would be subject to detailed consultation prior to it being 
finalised. 

4.6 The report requested by Planning Committee, on 19 April 2023, will set out options 
and if further guidance on short-term lets is prepared, the Economic Report will be 
used to inform the preparation of that guidance.  

5.     Next Steps 

5.1 If the Council continues to receive significant numbers of short-term let applications 
consideration will be given to reviewing the report and seeking an update of it in 
advance of preparing new guidance. In this respect, the model that underpins the 
analysis has been designed to allow updates in the future. 

6.       Financial Impact 

6.1 There are no immediate financial implications for the Council arising from this report.  

7.      Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1  There has been no stakeholder or community engagement on this report.  

 

Page 94



8.   Background Reading/External References 

8.1 Report to 19 April 23 Planning Committee on Proposed Changes to Short Term Let 
Guidance in the Non-Statutory Guidance for Businesses. 

8.2 Planning Guidance for Businesses which contains guidance on short-term lets. 

8.2 National Planning Framework 4 (NPF4). 

9. Appendices 

9.1     Appendix 1 – Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in 
Edinburgh. 

Page 95

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s56635/8.1%20-%20Proposed%20Changes%20to%20STL%20Let%20Guidance%20for%20Businesses%20V2.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s56635/8.1%20-%20Proposed%20Changes%20to%20STL%20Let%20Guidance%20for%20Businesses%20V2.pdf
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/27027/for-businesses
https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategy-plan/2023/02/national-planning-framework-4/documents/national-planning-framework-4-revised-draft/national-planning-framework-4-revised-draft/govscot%3Adocument/national-planning-framework-4.pdf


 

Economic Impact of Residential and 
Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh   

 

A Final Report 
 

For 
 

City of Edinburgh Council  
 

By 
 

MKA Economics 

 

24th May 2023 

Page 96



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................ I 

1 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................ 1 

2 ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY ..................................................................................... 2 

RESIDENTIAL USE..................................................................................................................... 3 

SHORT-TERM LETTING USE ...................................................................................................... 6 

LIMITATIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS ............................................................................................... 9 

3 RESULTS ......................................................................................................................... 12 

 

Figure 1.1: Economic Impact of Residential and Short Term Let Properties  

Figure 1.2: Edinburgh and Lothian Scottish Parliament Constituencies  

Figure 1.3: Edinburgh House Prices and Council Tax Bands  

Figure 1.4: Tenure by Property Size  

Figure 1.5: Average Salary by Area 

Figure 1.6: Short-Term Lets – Tourism Assumptions  

Figure 1.7: Edinburgh Short Term Lets: Occupancy Rates 2018 (Actual) – July 2023 

(Projected)  

Figure 1.8: Economic Impact of Residential and Short Term Let Properties  

 

 

 

 

Page 97



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

i 

Executive Summary  

MKA Economics was appointed by City of Edinburgh Council (the Council) in November 2022 

to present an independent economic impact assessment of various types of properties in 

Edinburgh if used as a residential property as opposed to being used for short-term holiday 

lettings. This report sets out the approach and methodology, and results as set out below.  

The analysis shows that the gross value added (GVA) effects are greater for residential uses 

than short-term lets across all property types and all areas. Although it is noted that the 

employment effects are greater for short-term lets in most cases, however, although tourism 

jobs are valuable, they are not as valuable in GVA terms as other economic activity in the city.   

All businesses, and the residents, and businesses in the tourism sector are facing significant 

economic challenges as a result of the ongoing cost of living crisis, and the results presented 

in this section will continue to change throughout 2023 and beyond.  The model has been 

designed in such a manner to allow regular updates in future.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

ii 

Figure 1.1: Economic Impact of Residential and Short Term Let Properties  

 

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.19                   7,516                 7,301                 1 bed 0.23                   4,714                 12,419               

2 bed 0.31                   12,559               16,267               2 bed 0.43                   8,764                 21,991               

3 bed 0.49                   19,699               22,065               3 bed 0.60                   12,288               30,467               

4 bed 0.62                   25,117               32,040               4 bed 0.75                   15,293               37,878               

5 bed 0.77                   31,212               42,355               5 bed 1.03                   21,018               51,650               

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.20                   8,212£               8,088£               1 bed 0.29                   5,990£               15,542£             

2 bed 0.33                   13,208£             16,937£             2 bed 0.55                   11,137£             27,840£             

3 bed 0.51                   20,706£             22,780£             3 bed 0.77                   15,775£             38,970£             
4 bed 0.66                   26,417£             33,174£             4 bed 1.05                   21,470£             52,548£             

5 bed 0.82                   32,841£             43,142£             5 bed 1.10                   22,412£             55,537£             

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.16                   6,323£               5,746£               1 bed 0.19                   3,916£               10,391£             

2 bed 0.25                   10,041£             12,239£             2 bed 0.29                   5,952£               15,249£             

3 bed 0.39                   15,833£             15,975£             3 bed 0.43                   8,861£               22,100£             
4 bed 0.50                   20,081£             23,678£             4 bed -                     -£                   -£                   

5 bed 0.62                   24,860£             33,072£             5 bed -                     -£                   -£                   

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.19                   7,500£               7,290£               1 bed 0.23                   4,765£               12,331£             

2 bed 0.34                   13,608£             17,952£             2 bed 0.43                   8,855£               21,880£             

3 bed 0.53                   21,304£             24,712£             3 bed 0.66                   13,437£             32,556£             
4 bed 0.68                   27,215£             35,104£             4 bed 0.64                   13,044£             32,195£             

5 bed 0.84                   33,866£             47,523£             5 bed 0.96                   19,624£             47,763£             

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.18                   7,052£               7,226£               1 bed 0.21                   4,318£               11,516£             

2 bed 0.32                   12,791£             17,825£             2 bed 0.42                   8,654£               21,628£             

3 bed 0.50                   20,028£             25,233£             3 bed 0.55                   11,162£             27,897£             
4 bed 0.63                   25,581£             36,383£             4 bed 0.65                   13,330£             33,384£             

5 bed 0.79                   31,829£             47,201£             5 bed -                     -£                   -£                   

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.21                   8,308£               8,088£               1 bed 0.24                   4,974£               13,220£             

2 bed 0.33                   13,364£             16,937£             2 bed 0.46                   9,333£               23,719£             

3 bed 0.52                   20,950£             22,780£             3 bed 0.65                   13,329£             33,382£             
4 bed 0.66                   26,728£             33,174£             4 bed -                     -£                   -£                   

5 bed 0.82                   33,228£             43,142£             5 bed -                     -£                   -£                   

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.19                   7,698£               7,369£               1 bed 0.21                   4,318£               11,516£             

2 bed 0.31                   12,340£             15,714£             2 bed 0.42                   8,654£               21,628£             

3 bed 0.48                   19,375£             20,910£             3 bed 0.55                   11,162£             27,897£             

4 bed 0.61                   24,680£             30,729£             4 bed 0.65                   13,330£             33,384£             

5 bed 0.76                   30,649£             40,050£             5 bed -                     -£                   -£                   

Edinburgh Western - Short Term LetEdinburgh Western - Residential

Edinburgh Southern - Short Term LetEdinburgh Southern - Residential

Edinburgh Average - Residential Edinburgh Average - Short Term Let

Edinburgh Eastern - Short Term LetEdinburgh Eastern - Residential

Edinburgh Pentland - Short Term LetEdinburgh Pentland - Residential

Edinburgh North and Leith - Short Term LetEdinburgh North and Leith - Residential

Edinburgh Central - Residential Edinburgh Central - Short Term Let

Page 99



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

1 

1 Introduction 

1.1 MKA Economics was appointed by City of Edinburgh Council (the Council) in 

November 2022 to present an independent economic impact assessment of various types of 

properties in Edinburgh if used as a residential property as opposed to being used for short-

term holiday lettings. 

1.2 In recent years, there has been a trend of residential properties in Edinburgh and 

Scotland being formally and informally repurposed as short-term holiday letting properties. 

1.3 National Planning Framework 4 (NPF4) document sets out planning policies with 

respect to this. Policy 30e of NPF4 is as follows: 

‘Development proposals for the reuse of existing buildings for short term holiday letting will 

not be supported where the proposal will result in: 

i. An unacceptable impact on local amenity or the character of a neighbourhood or area; or 

ii. The loss of residential accommodation where such loss is not outweighed by demonstrable 

local economic benefits.’ 

1.4 With regards to point ii, the Council requires an analysis of the local economic 

benefits of short-term holiday letting properties as opposed to residential properties.  

1.5 The scope of the work is to prepare a simple table that compares the local economic 

benefits of a residential property versus a short-term holiday let properties for a range of 

scenarios.  

Page 100



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

2 

2 Assessment Methodology 

2.1 The scope of the work is to prepare a simple set of tables that compares the local 

economic benefits of a residential property versus a short-term holiday let property for a range 

of scenarios. 

2.2 The analysis takes the form of a series of tables that sets out the expected economic 

impact for a single property if used for residential use and if used as a short-term holiday 

letting. A key consideration is that the table should present this data for various ‘scenarios’ of 

properties rather than presenting a single figure for the city overall. These scenarios include 

the number of bedrooms the property has and the location of the property. MKA Economics 

has considered how these different inputs would impact upon factors such as expenditure and 

occupancy/voids and how this would in turn impact upon the expected economic benefits. 

2.3 For this assessment MKA Economics has devised an economic impact model which 

splits Edinburgh into its six Scottish Parliamentary constituency areas, these being: 

• Edinburgh Central  

• Edinburgh Eastern 

• Edinburgh Northern and Leith 

• Edinburgh Pentlands 

• Edinburgh Southern 

• Edinburgh Western 

2.4 The analysis also summarises the impacts for Edinburgh as a whole as a result of 

drawing on the findings from the constituencies. These constituency areas are illustrated on 

the map below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

3 

Figure 1.2: Edinburgh and Lothian Scottish Parliament Constituencies  

 

2.5 These areas were selected according to the availability of data for both residential 

households as well as information for short-term lets. The residential figures are sourced from 

a range of local and national publicly available datasets. The lettings information is sourced 

from AirDNA, which is the data engine behind AirBNB and Vrbo, and has information on more 

than 6,660 active listings in Edinburgh.   These are explained in more detail below. 

Residential Use 

2.6 The residential market in each character area were assessed according to the 

number of bedrooms, from one bedroom to five bedrooms.  

2.7 In order to assess Council Tax impacts, a review of Council Tax statistics in each 

area was completed, using figures from the National Records of Scotland (NRS) (Estimates of 

Households and Dwellings in Scotland). An interrogation of Council Tax banding by property 

type and by constituency was undertaken to assess the expected Council Tax receipts by 

area and property tax. 

2.8 The analysis has utilised Council Tax Charges for Edinburgh for the period 2023/24, 

these being A-C (Edinburgh average £1,517), D-E (Edinburgh average £2,233) and F-H 

(Edinburgh average £3,767). In terms of key assumptions, the analysis has assumed all one 

beds across all areas are in the A-C band and all five beds are in the F-H band. Using the 

statistics, the analysis has assumed that two bedroom properties in North, East and 

Pentlands remain in A-C as they have a higher proportion of these properties, and the other 

areas move to band D-E for two bedroom properties. North and East three bedroom 

properties remain in A-C, and Pentlands moves into D-E for three bedroom properties. In 

terms of four bedroom properties, East and North remain in D-E whilst the other areas move 

to F-H. The analysis has also applied a 25% reduction to the one bedroom / one person 

households.   

Page 102



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

4 

Figure 1.3: Council Tax Bands  

Area One Bed Two Bed Three Bed Four Bed Five Bed 

Central A-C D-E D-E F-H F-H 

Eastern A-C A-C A-C D-E F-H 

Northern & Leith A-C A-C A-C D-E F-H 

Pentlands A-C A-C D-E D-E F-H 

Southern A-C D-E D-E F-H F-H 

Western A-C D-E D-E F-H F-H 

 

2.9 In order to assess the number of adults, working adults and children in each home, 

the analysis has utilised figures from the Scottish Household Survey which found that the 

average number of bedrooms per household was 2.6 and the average household size was 

2.2, so there was an average of 1.18 bedrooms per person in Scotland, or inversely 0.85 

people per bedroom in Scotland.  

2.10 On the basis that less than one person cannot reside in a house, the analysis has 

assumed one person for one bedroom homes, and then utilised the 0.85 proxy for each 

additional property size. A review of Office for National Statistics (ONS) (The Effects of Taxes 

and Benefits on Household Income, UK, 2021/22 - Reference Tables) also showed that the 

average number of children per household is 0.5 (in a typical household of 2.4), or 0.21 

children per average house. The analysis has deployed this proxy per household size to 

calculate the number of adults per house. The working age numbers are converted to 

‘economically active’ figures by deploying the economic activity rate for Edinburgh (81.4%) 

from ONS Annual Population Survey. 

Figure 1.4: Tenure by Property Size  

Property 
Type 

Average Number of 
Residents 

Average Number 
of Adults 

Average Number of 
Working Adults 

One Bed 1.0 0.8 0.6 

Two Bed 1.7 1.3 1.1 

Three Bed  2.6 2.1 1.7 

Four Bed 3.4 2.7 2.2 

Five Bed  4.3 3.4 2.8 

 

2.11 Annual salaries were drawn from the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE), 

these salaries were used to assess the value of workers earnings, and therefore also present 

the economic value of these jobs, and enable taxation impacts to be calculated. These figures 

can be seen to be the economic value of the properties being occupied by working age 

residents, and would therefore have a beneficial impact on producing goods and services in 

other parts of the Edinburgh economy.  

 

Page 103



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

5 

Figure 1.5: Average Salary by Area 

Area Avg. Salary 
Diff with 

Edinburgh Diff with Scotland 

Central £40,369 11% 27.4% 

Eastern £31,833 -13% 0.4% 

Northern & Leith £37,461 3% 18.2% 

Pentlands £37,229 2% 17.5% 

Southern £40,369 11% 27.4% 

Western £37,748 4% 19.1% 

Edinburgh £36,393   

Scotland £31,697   
 

2.12 Income tax assumptions are based upon the Scottish Government taxation rate, 

where there is a tax free threshold of around £12,500. There is a starter rate of 19% up to 

£15,000, a lower tax rate of 20% up to £25,000 and a 21% rate up to £44,000. For the 

purposes of this assessment we have assumed a middle income tax rate of 21%. In terms of 

National Insurance, we have adopted the same approach and assumed 12% of salaries over 

the national threshold of £12,500.  

2.13 Family expenditure rates were drawn from the ONS ‘Family Spending in the UK’ in 

2021. The rate for Scotland was used as a baseline, and ‘housing costs’ in terms of heating 

and lighting were excluded as these are unlikely to be spent locally. The other items were all 

deemed to be potentially local benefits, e.g., food and drink, health, transport, and recreation. 

This provided an annual weekly expenditure per person of £190 and an annual figure of 

£9,850. In order to assess potential variances at the local level the base case figures were 

subjected to an increase directly related to the variance in the earnings in Edinburgh vis-à-vis 

Scotland. Total family expenditure was then presented, and these figures were subjected to a 

VAT adjustment of 20%, to provide a net family expenditure impact.  

2.14 The total gross impact was calculated according to salaries and family expenditure. In 

order to reflect the likelihood that some of this activity would ‘leak’ out of Edinburgh as result 

of workers being employed outside the city and an element of their expenditure benefiting 

non-Edinburgh locations and businesses an adjustment for leakage was presented.  

2.15 Travel to work statistics from the 2011 Census were reviewed, and it was assumed 

for each character area, that people travelling over 10km to work, would likely to be working 

outside of Edinburgh. Varying leakage rates were then assumed for earning and expenditure 

totals. 

 

 

Page 104



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

6 

2.16 In order to convert the net local impact to employment and GVA per job. A review of 

the latest Scottish Annual Business Statistics (2019 figures) was completed. This review 

found that one Full Time Equivalent (FTE) job is created for every £126,585 in Edinburgh, and 

each FTE job across the Edinburgh economy has a GVA per head impact of £40,294. FTEs 

have been calculated based on 69% of Edinburgh’s workforce being full time and 31% being 

part time, with part time posts assumed to be 0.5 of a job.  

2.17 This assessment was then used to populate the ‘Overview’ for the residential 

properties by size and character area across Edinburgh’s six parliamentary constituency 

areas.  

Short-Term Letting Use 

2.18 In terms of short-term lets, figures from AirDNA were used, as this is the largest and 

most up to date source of active and historic data for short term lets at the local level. In total 

AirDNA presented ten character areas for Edinburgh, and transposed into the six Scottish 

Parliamentary constituency areas, this assumes the following: 

• Edinburgh Central: New Town, Old Town and Stockbridge 

• Edinburgh Eastern: Craigmillar and Portobello 

• Edinburgh Northern and Leith: Leith 

• Edinburgh Pentlands: Edinburgh West and Balerno 

• Edinburgh Southern: Marchmont, Morningside and Newington 

• Edinburgh Western: Edinburgh West and Balerno  

2.19 It should be noted that due to the scale of the AirDNA area of West Edinburgh and 

Balerno, this covers both Edinburgh Pentlands and Edinburgh Western. AirDNA figures 

outlined that, on average, two people stayed in a one bedroom property, four people in a two 

bedroom property, six people in a three bedroom property, eight people in a four bedroom 

property and ten people in a five bedroom property.  

2.20 It should be noted that due to limited data for larger properties in some areas, such as 

Edinburgh Eastern, Pentland, Southern and Western, there is insufficient data to assess 

larger lettable properties.  

 

 

Page 105



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

7 

2.21 In terms of property tax, we were unable to access the Scottish Government Non-

Domestic Tax Rate calculator as it is under review. Furthermore, a review of Edinburgh’s 

District Valuers website identified no self-catering properties and it was therefore assumed 

that the properties were more likely to have a Council Tax impact, than a Non-Domestic Rate 

impact.  

2.22 It is acknowledged that this position is subject to ongoing legislative changes. The 

same Council Tax proxies as outlined for residential properties by their size was therefore 

assumed for short-term lets.  

2.23 In terms of booking data, we obtained booking charges and occupancy rates from 

AirDNA for each area and by property size, this assumed full properties and not properties 

which were subletting individual rooms within a residential property. The daily rate does not 

include the AirBNB service charge which is charged to the customer, which is set at varied 

between 14%. The cleaning charge is included in the daily rate, and this was extrapolated 

(being around 5%) of the daily rate, for illustrative purposes, although it is acknowledged that 

this varies by property to property. The analysis of daily rates and occupancy rates is based 

on the most recent year (Dec 21 – Nov 22) figures from AirDNA. 

2.24 The daily expenditure by each overnight tourist staying in Edinburgh was sourced 

from VisitScotland’s ‘Tourism in Edinburgh’ 2019, which is the latest source, and it is 

acknowledged that 2022 was expected to be similar to 2019, on the basis that Covid-19 

restrictions were largely lifted and anecdotal evidence and a review of a range of tourism 

barometers suggesting 2022 was a similar year as pre-pandemic figures from 2019. The 

overnight figures assumed £99 for international travellers and £96 for domestic travellers, 

therefore £97.50 was assumed.   

2.25 This average figure has been adjusted to account for the difference in booking rates 

across each property type and area, for example, where booking charges are higher, or 

lower, than average, this same factor has been adopted to alter the average daily spend 

figure. The logic being that those spending more/less on booking accommodation, are likely 

to spend more/less during their stay.  

2.26 A headline summary of these short-term let metrics is presented in Figure 1.6 below. 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

8 

Figure 1.6: Short-Term Lets – Tourism Assumptions  

 Net Daily Rate 
Spend Variance 

with Average Occupancy Rate 

Central    

1 bed  £142.15  25% 77% 

2 bed  £196.01  22% 73% 

3 bed  £287.54  21% 70% 

4 bed  £468.61  23% 70% 

5 bed  £591.68  7% 67% 

Eastern    

1 bed  £96.69  -15% 74% 

2 bed  £110.83  -31% 69% 

3 bed  £173.94  -27% 65% 

Northern and Leith    

1 bed  £113.09  -1% 77% 

2 bed  £160.23  0% 71% 

3 bed  £259.78  9% 66% 

4 bed  £349.62  -8% 57% 

5 bed  £510.44  -7% 68% 

Pentland    

1 bed  £108.08  -5% 73% 

2 bed  £161.13  1% 69% 

3 bed  £226.08  -5% 63% 

4 bed  £290.93  -24% 70% 

Southern    

1 bed  £115.04  1% 79% 

2 bed  £171.30  7% 70% 

3 bed  £257.69  8% 66% 

Western    

1 bed  £108.08  -5% 73% 

2 bed  £161.13  1% 69% 

3 bed  £226.08  -5% 63% 

4 bed  £290.93  -24% 70% 

 

2.27 Consultation with VisitScotland outlined that this included accommodation spend, and 

therefore this was subtracted from the spend rated, based on known accommodation costs in 

each areas and by property size. Therefore, a total per head accommodation spend could be 

calculated. This was then multiplied by 365 days and subjected to an occupancy rate which 

was reflective of statistics by area and property size from AirDNA.  

 

 

Page 107



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

9 

2.28 In keeping with the residential assessment, a leakage rate was assessed. There are 

no statistics from VisitScotland which outline where tourists spent their time and money when 

visiting Edinburgh. However, a review of the Great Britain Day Visits Survey does provide an 

insight to expenditure by type, and concludes that around 32% of expenditure is accounted 

for by transport. It is expected that these costs will be borne outside Edinburgh, with the vast 

majority of the other costs (eating and drinking, retail and admissions) will benefit local 

businesses. For the purposes of this assessment, we have assumed a leakage rate of 32%. 

2.29 In order to convert the net local impact to employment and GVA per job. A review of 

the latest Scottish Annual Business Statistics (2019 figures) was completed. This review 

found that one FTE job is created for every £126,585 in Edinburgh, and each ‘Sustainable 

Tourism’ FTE job across the Edinburgh economy has a GVA per head impact of £20,371. 

FTEs have been calculated based on 69% of Edinburgh’s workforce being full time and 31% 

being part time, with part time posts assumed to be 0.5 of a job. 

Limitations and Assumptions 

2.30 This assessment is based on a review of publicly available datasets and through 

subscribing to active rental data from AirDNA. These figures utilise the most recent sources 

and figures at the time of the analysis, January 2023.  

2.31 It is acknowledged that the UK, Scotland and potentially Edinburgh is moving into an 

economic slowdown, and this will have a marked impact on residential and short term let 

impacts presented below. The assessment has not assessed unemployment, and this may be 

an area which changes in the near future. Similarly, salary levels may become depressed and 

spending power adversely affected by the ongoing cost of living crisis. This is a dynamic 

situation and this ‘snapshot’ assessment should therefore be reviewed going forward.  

2.32 Similarly, it is known from a review of AirDNA figures that forward projections from 

occupancy rates are showing signs of being much lower in 2023 than achieved in 2022. The 

following figure presents the achieved occupancy rates in 2022 and those forecast for 2023, it 

is known that rates in January 2023 are already around 50% below those achieved in early 

2022.   

 

 

 

 

Page 108



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

10 

Figure 1.7: Edinburgh Short Term Lets: Occupancy Rates 2018 (Actual) – July 2023 

(Projected)  

 

2.33 Caution should be taken when reviewing future projections as these are likely to 

change and are presented as these are only bookings that have been to date. However, this 

expected dramatic downturn is validated by the findings of a recent survey completed by the 

Association for Scottish Self Caterers (published 11th January 20231) which found that:  

• Between January and March 2023, average occupancy is at 24% across those 

businesses that are open; 

• Between April and June, based on existing bookings to date, average occupancy is 32%; 

• Between July and September average occupancy is just 31%. 

2.34 Looking at January – March 2023 bookings, 61% respondents note that the season is 

worse or much worse (28% much worse) than the same period in 2022. In overall terms, 

when describing how the anticipated 2023 season is looking so far compared to 2022, 64% 

respondents note that the season is worse or much worse (25% much worse). 

2.35 In comparison to last year 43% say their bookings for the next three months are 

substantially lower than last year with a further 22% saying bookings are slightly lower. In 

comparison to last year 41% say their bookings are substantially lower for the next six months 

with a further 28% saying they are slightly lower. 

 

 

1 https://www.assc.co.uk/assc-occupancy-survey/  

Page 109

https://www.assc.co.uk/assc-occupancy-survey/


 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

11 

2.36 The survey also found that: 

• 91% continue to be concerned about the impact of short term letting licensing (69% very 

concerned) 

• 86% concerned about lack of consumer confidence to book holidays (47% very 

concerned) 

• 89% concerned about the very cost of doing business (41% very concerned) 

2.37 All businesses, and the resident population, and businesses in the tourism sector are 

facing significant economic challenges as a result of the ongoing cost of living crisis, and the 

results presented in this section will continue to change throughout 2023 and beyond.  The 

model has been designed in such a manner to allow regular updates in future.  

 

 

 

Page 110



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

12 

3 Results  

3.1 The results of the assessment are presented in the following tables. 

3.2 The analysis shows that the GVA effects are greater for residential uses than short-

term lets across all property types and all areas. Although it is noted that the employment 

effects are greater for short-term lets in most cases, however, although tourism jobs are 

valuable they are not as valuable in GVA terms as other economic activity in the city.   

3.3 All businesses, and the resident population, and businesses in the tourism sector are 

facing significant economic challenges as a result of the ongoing cost of living crisis, and the 

results presented in this section will continue to change throughout 2023 and beyond.  The 

model has been designed in such a manner to allow regular updates in future. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 111



 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh  

13 

Figure 1.8: Economic Impact of Residential and Short Term Let Properties  

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.19                   7,516                 7,301                 1 bed 0.23                   4,714                 12,419               

2 bed 0.31                   12,559               16,267               2 bed 0.43                   8,764                 21,991               

3 bed 0.49                   19,699               22,065               3 bed 0.60                   12,288               30,467               

4 bed 0.62                   25,117               32,040               4 bed 0.75                   15,293               37,878               

5 bed 0.77                   31,212               42,355               5 bed 1.03                   21,018               51,650               

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.20                   8,212£               8,088£               1 bed 0.29                   5,990£               15,542£             

2 bed 0.33                   13,208£             16,937£             2 bed 0.55                   11,137£             27,840£             

3 bed 0.51                   20,706£             22,780£             3 bed 0.77                   15,775£             38,970£             
4 bed 0.66                   26,417£             33,174£             4 bed 1.05                   21,470£             52,548£             

5 bed 0.82                   32,841£             43,142£             5 bed 1.10                   22,412£             55,537£             

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.16                   6,323£               5,746£               1 bed 0.19                   3,916£               10,391£             

2 bed 0.25                   10,041£             12,239£             2 bed 0.29                   5,952£               15,249£             

3 bed 0.39                   15,833£             15,975£             3 bed 0.43                   8,861£               22,100£             
4 bed 0.50                   20,081£             23,678£             4 bed -                     -£                   -£                   

5 bed 0.62                   24,860£             33,072£             5 bed -                     -£                   -£                   

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.19                   7,500£               7,290£               1 bed 0.23                   4,765£               12,331£             

2 bed 0.34                   13,608£             17,952£             2 bed 0.43                   8,855£               21,880£             

3 bed 0.53                   21,304£             24,712£             3 bed 0.66                   13,437£             32,556£             
4 bed 0.68                   27,215£             35,104£             4 bed 0.64                   13,044£             32,195£             

5 bed 0.84                   33,866£             47,523£             5 bed 0.96                   19,624£             47,763£             

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.18                   7,052£               7,226£               1 bed 0.21                   4,318£               11,516£             

2 bed 0.32                   12,791£             17,825£             2 bed 0.42                   8,654£               21,628£             

3 bed 0.50                   20,028£             25,233£             3 bed 0.55                   11,162£             27,897£             
4 bed 0.63                   25,581£             36,383£             4 bed 0.65                   13,330£             33,384£             

5 bed 0.79                   31,829£             47,201£             5 bed -                     -£                   -£                   

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.21                   8,308£               8,088£               1 bed 0.24                   4,974£               13,220£             

2 bed 0.33                   13,364£             16,937£             2 bed 0.46                   9,333£               23,719£             

3 bed 0.52                   20,950£             22,780£             3 bed 0.65                   13,329£             33,382£             
4 bed 0.66                   26,728£             33,174£             4 bed -                     -£                   -£                   

5 bed 0.82                   33,228£             43,142£             5 bed -                     -£                   -£                   

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

Unit Size
Net Local FTE 

Jobs

Net Annual 

Local GVA 

Impact

Gross Annual 

National and 

Local Taxation

1 bed 0.19                   7,698£               7,369£               1 bed 0.21                   4,318£               11,516£             

2 bed 0.31                   12,340£             15,714£             2 bed 0.42                   8,654£               21,628£             

3 bed 0.48                   19,375£             20,910£             3 bed 0.55                   11,162£             27,897£             

4 bed 0.61                   24,680£             30,729£             4 bed 0.65                   13,330£             33,384£             

5 bed 0.76                   30,649£             40,050£             5 bed -                     -£                   -£                   

Edinburgh Western - Short Term LetEdinburgh Western - Residential

Edinburgh Southern - Short Term LetEdinburgh Southern - Residential

Edinburgh Average - Residential Edinburgh Average - Short Term Let

Edinburgh Eastern - Short Term LetEdinburgh Eastern - Residential

Edinburgh Pentland - Short Term LetEdinburgh Pentland - Residential

Edinburgh North and Leith - Short Term LetEdinburgh North and Leith - Residential

Edinburgh Central - Residential Edinburgh Central - Short Term Let

 

Page 112


	Agenda
	Notice of meeting and agenda
	Planning Committee
	2.00pm, Wednesday, 14th June, 2023
	Contacts
	1. Order of Business
	2. Declaration of interests
	3. Deputations
	4. Minutes
	5. Business Bulletin
	6. Development Plan
	7. Planning Policy
	8. Planning Process
	9. Planning Performance
	10. Conservation
	11. Motions
	Committee Members
	Information about the Planning Committee
	Further information
	Webcasting of Council meetings





	4.1 Minutes
	5.1 Business Bulletin
	Business Bulletin 
	Business Bulletin
	Planning Committee
	2.00pm, Wednesday, 14 June 2023

	Planning Committee

	Contacts:
	Members:
	Convener:
	Background
	Recent News

	Appendix 2 - Planning Stats
	Appendix 3 - Letters to and from Minister
	Appendix 3A - Letter to Minister re Non-Determination and Processing Agreements
	Appendix 3
	Slide 2
	Slide 3



	7.1 Affordable Housing Policy Update 2023
	Planning Committee
	2.00pm, Wednesday, 14 June 2023
	Affordable Housing Policy Update 2023
	1. Recommendations



	Report
	Affordable Housing Policy Update 2023
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	4. Main report
	5. Next Steps
	6. Financial impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8. Background reading/external references
	9. Appendices



	8.1 West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Masterplan: Draft for Consultation
	West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Masterplan
	Planning Committee
	2.00pm, Wednesday, 14 June 2023
	West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Masterplan: Draft for Consultation
	1. Recommendations


	Report
	West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Masterplan: Draft for Consultation
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	4. Main report
	5.     Next Steps
	6.       Financial Impact
	7.      Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8.   Background Reading/External References
	9. Appendices



	Appendix 1 - Draft West Edinburgh Placemaking Framework and Masterplan

	9.1 Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh
	Economic Impact of Residential and Short-term Let Properties in Edinburgh
	Planning Committee
	2.00pm, Wednesday 14 June 2023
	Economic Impact of Residential and Short-term Let Properties in Edinburgh
	1. Recommendations


	Report
	Economic Impact of Residential and Short-Term Let Properties in Edinburgh
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	4. Main report
	5.     Next Steps
	6.       Financial Impact
	7.      Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8.   Background Reading/External References
	9. Appendices



	Appendix 1 - Residential and Short Term Lets Economic Impact in Edinburgh Final Report 24May23


